
                                                        
  

PPHHIILLAADDEELLPPHHIIAA  RREEDDEEVVEELLOOPPMMEENNTT  AAUUTTHHOORRIITTYY  
  

11223344  MMAARRKKEETT  SSTTRREEEETT,,  1166TTHH  FFLLOOOORR  
  PPHHIILLAADDEELLPPHHIIAA,,  PPAA    1199110077    
  

BBOOAARRDD  MMEEEETTIINNGG  
WWEEDDNNEESSDDAAYY,,  JJAANNUUAARRYY  1122,,  22002222  

  
EExxeeccuuttiivvee  SSeessssiioonn  ––  33::3300  PP..MM..  

OOppeenn  SSeessssiioonn  ––  44::0000  PP..MM.. 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 

APPROVAL OF BOARD MINUTES  
        

Meeting of December 8, 2021 
           

 
I. ADMINISTRATIVE       Page 

 
(a) Appointment of the Board of Directors of     (1) 

RT Headhouse Development Corporation  
 
(b) Third Amendment to Cooperation Agreement –    (3) 

City of Philadelphia, acting through its Department of 
Public Property 
400 N. Broad Street 

 
(c) Approval of Grant Agreement ($500,000) with the   (7) 

Philadelphia Housing Authority 
 
(d) Conveyance of Title of City Properties Through the   (9) 

Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority to the  
Philadelphia Land Bank  

 
(e) Conveyance of Title of Philadelphia Redevelopment   (15) 

Authority Properties to the Philadelphia Land Bank  
 
 

II. DEVELOPMENT  
 
(a) 4644 South, LP        (19) 

46 S. 44th Street  
Certificate of Completion  

 
 



AGENDA 
Board Meeting of January 12, 2022 
Page -2- 
 
 
 

(b) Blue Truck Enterprises LLC       (24) 
2476 Jasper Street and 2478 Jasper Street  
Certificate of Completion  



                                                  Board Meeting of December 8, 2021  
                                            Volume 67– Page 200 

 PHILADELPHIA REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY  
 

BOARD MEETING MINUTES 
 
 

***** 
 
Prior to the start of the meeting, Mr. Harmon made the announcement that, due to the 
Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority's continued office closure due to the Covid-19 pandemic, 
today's Board meeting is being held electronically via an authorized communication device, is 
open to public attendees, and open for public comment.  The Board meeting is being recorded 
and questions and comments can be entered using the Question & Answer box at the lower right-
hand corner of the screen.  Questions and/or comments will be read out loud and answered if 
needed.  Mr. Harmon stated that he provided his email address to the public for any issues with 
submitting questions and/or comments and for any issues with accessing the Board meeting 
remotely.  
 
Mr. Harmon further stated that the received fifteen (15) emails regarding "Item II(d)" on today's 
agenda.  Mr. Harmon further stated that letters he received as well as the Question & Answer 
feature will be attached to the minutes.      
 
 
***MR. HARMON ASKED EVERYONE TO PLEASE NOTE THAT THERE IS A 
QUESTION AND ANSWER PORTAL FOR PUBLIC ATTENDEES OF THIS BOARD 
MEETING.  THE PUBLIC ATTENDANCE LIST AND THE SUBMITTED QUESTIONS 
AND ANSWERS, IF ANY, WILL BE ATTACHED TO THE MEETING MINUTES. 
  

***** 
 
A virtual meeting of the Board of Directors of the Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority was held 
on Wednesday, December 08, 2021, commencing at 4:01 P.M., pursuant to proper notices being 
made. 
 
 
ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
Ms. Fadullon informed staff and the public that the PRA Board of Directors 2022 meeting 
Schedule will be posted on the website and will be advertised prior to next month's meeting.   
 
 
ROLL CALL  
 
The following members of the Board of Directors reported present: Anne Fadullon, Chair; James 
Cuorato, Vice Chair; Sabrina Maynard, Treasurer; and Maria Duque-Buckley, 2nd Vice Chair 
and Assistant Secretary.   
 
The following member of the Board of Directors was not present:  Michael Rashid, Secretary.  

1



                                                  Board Meeting of December 8, 2021  
                                            Volume 67– Page 201 

  
The following assigned staff were present:  Ryan Harmon, Esq., Jojy Varghese, Angel 
Rodriguez, Jessie Lawrence, Victoria Englestad, Alberta Benn, Brian Romano, and Elizabeth 
Bonaccorso.   
 
Also in attendance:  Dina Testa, Finn (name provided), Megan McCoy, Eugen Desyatnik, 
Richard Dickson, Erin Sweeny, Sophia fox, Kristin Haskins Simms, Turtlebug (name provided), 
David H. Yukhananov, Mathen Pullukattu, Julie Stapleton Carroll, Sonya Nickerson, Alfred 
Whitfield, Brent Howard, Diana (name provided), Allison Weiss, Henry Sullivan, Albert Hicks, 
Jr., Jacquelyn Sims, Ashish Patil, Michael Wilkins, Tim Fisher, LC (name provided), Jason 
Wallace, Betsy Epstein, Rose (name provided), Todd Hestand, Krystal Dillard, Ann Doley and 
Sharon Forman.  
 

 
 
MINUTES 
 
Ms. Fadullon called for a motion to approve the minutes of the Board meeting November 10, 
2021. 
 
Upon motion made and duly seconded, the minutes of November 10, 2021, were approved. 
 

 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE  
 
Ms. Englestad presented "Item I(a) – Approval of Amendment to Management and 
Leasing Agreement with DHC Management, LLC" in substance consistent with the 
attached Fact Sheet hereto.  
 
Additional Comments and Discussion  
 
Ms. Fadullon stated there was a question from Ms. Weiss in the chat feature.  Ms. Fadullon read 
the question, "Ms. Weiss asked if there is a list of maintenance expenditures for the Lower 
Germantown properties, how exactly will the additional $50,000 be used, and who was permitted 
to occupy because many tenants were not permitted to remain."  Ms. Engelstad responded the 
that the additional funding will be used based on unit needs.  Ms. Englestad stated that she 
expects further estimates and further requests during the course of contract and that staff believes 
this should cover the necessary costs.  Ms. Engelstad further stated the estimates were based on 
the provider's expertise.   
 
Ms. Fadullon recognized Ms. Weiss and invited her to speak.  Ms. Weiss asked how to obtain a 
list of the repairs and costs, a list of the current occupants and a list of those were displaced.  Ms. 
Englestad replied that she believed the tenants that were displaced were moved by the 

2



                                                  Board Meeting of December 8, 2021  
                                            Volume 67– Page 202 

Philadelphia Housing Authority ("PHA") when the units were initially taken over by the 
Authority. 
 
Ms. Fadullon stated that when possession of the properties by the Authority was finally 
completed following the litigation, there were certain units that could no longer be occupied and 
certain units that could continue to be occupied with some basic repairs.  Ms. Fadullon further 
stated that this work involves units where the tenants were permitted to continue to occupy.  Ms. 
Fadullon stated that certain units need additional repairs to continue to be occupied.    
 
Ms. Weiss asked if there were any new tenant's being placed in the properties.  Ms. Fadullon 
responded no.  Ms. Weiss asked why all of this work is being done when there is supposed to be 
a community meeting to discuss the future of these properties.   
 
Mr. Rodriguez stated that during the community engagement process, the properties still have to 
be maintained and in good repair.  Mr. Rodriguez stated that we do not want any of the 
properties to fall into disrepair.  Ms. Weiss responded that she appreciates the care shown for 
these properties as well as the exterior.  Ms. Weiss stated that she still does not understand why 
there is a need for so much extra funds since there was a budget.  Mr. Rodriguez replied that a 
budget is a marker in time and, as we start developing the relationship with existing residents, we 
see things that were not initially expected.  Mr. Rodriguez also stated that there have been 
incidents such as a fire and vandalism which require additional repairs and that the situation is 
fluid.  Mr. Rodriguez stated that this is a nominal amount to maintain a large number of parcels.  
Mr. Rodriguez further stated that property maintenance obligations do not go away.   
 
Ms. Weiss asked if there was a way to get a copy of the expenditures.  Mr. Rodriguez stated 
those documents are internal working documents and that she would need to speak with Mr. 
Harmon regarding that request.  
 
Mr. Harmon advised Ms. Weiss that he would speak with Ms. Engelstad and the property 
manager to determine what is prepared or what can be prepared.  Mr. Harmon stated if there are 
documents that Ms. Weiss is specifically looking for, she can always submit a Right-to-Know 
request and that staff would work with Ms. Weiss to get her what she requests.  Ms. Weiss 
thanked Mr. Harmon.  
 
Board Action 
 
Ms. Fadullon called for a motion on the resolution. Upon motion made and duly seconded, the 
resolution was approved as follows: 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-79 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING AN AMENDMENT TO THE MANAGEMENT AND 
LEASING AGREEMENT WITH DHC MANAGEMENT, LLC TO PROVIDE 
PROPERTY MANAGEMENT SERVICES FOR THE LOWER GERMANTOWN 
PROPERTY PORTFOLIO  
 

3



                                                  Board Meeting of December 8, 2021  
                                            Volume 67– Page 203 

 BE IT RESOLVED, by the Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority ("Authority"), that 
authorization is hereby given for the Authority to enter into an amendment to the March 4, 2021 
Management and Leasing Agreement with DHC Management, LLC, to provide property 
management services for the Lower Germantown Property Portfolio as identified in Exhibit "A", 
providing for additional compensation in an amount not to exceed Fifty Thousand Dollars 
($50,000).  

 
 FURTHER RESOLVING, the preparation, execution, and delivery of all documentation 
necessary to carry out the foregoing in form and substance acceptable to the Deputy Executive 
Director of Real Estate and General Counsel.  
 
 FURTHER RESOLVING, that the Deputy Executive Director of Real Estate, with the 
advice of General Counsel, may allow modifications to the Resolution and Contract necessary or 
desirable to carry out its purposes and intents.  

 
 

Voting for the foregoing resolution:  Ms. Fadullon, Mr. Cuorato, Ms. Buckley, and Ms. 
Maynard. 
 

 
 
Mr. Lawrence presented "Item I(b) – Conveyance of Title of City Properties Through the 
Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority to the Philadelphia Land Bank" in substance 
consistent with the attached Fact Sheet hereto.  
 
Board Action  
 
Ms. Fadullon called for a motion on the resolution.  Upon motion made and duly seconded, the 
resolution was approved as follows: 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-80 
 
RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ACCEPTANCE OF TITLE FROM THE CITY OF 
PHILADELPHIA TO VARIOUS PROPERTIES AND CONVEYANCE OF SUCH 
PROPERTIES BY THE PHILADELPHIA REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY TO THE 
PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 
 

WHEREAS, Act 153 of 2012, 68 Pa. C.S.A. § 2101, et seq. (the "Land Bank Act") 
authorized the City of Philadelphia ("City") to create a land bank in accordance with the Land 
Bank Act; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City, in Bill No. 130156-A (approved December 18, 2013), authorized 

the creation of the Philadelphia Land Bank and provided for its appointment, powers and duties; 
and 

 

4



                                                  Board Meeting of December 8, 2021  
                                            Volume 67– Page 204 

WHEREAS, Section 16-705 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the City's 
Commissioner of Public Property to convey real property to the Philadelphia Redevelopment 
Authority ("Authority"), without consideration, for subsequent transfer to the Philadelphia Land 
Bank; and 

 
WHEREAS, under Section 2109 of Land Bank Act, 68 Pa. C.S.A. § 2109(d)(3), a 

redevelopment authority, with the consent of the local governing body and without a 
redevelopment contract, may convey title to certain redevelopment authority property to a land 
bank; and 
 

WHEREAS, the properties identified on Exhibit "A" to this Resolution have been 
deemed surplus property by the City and the transfer of such properties to the Authority for 
subsequent transfer to the Philadelphia Land Bank will promote the public purposes for which 
the City created the Philadelphia Land Bank.  
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Philadelphia Redevelopment 
Authority, that authorization is hereby given to the Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority to 
accept title from the City of Philadelphia to those properties identified on Exhibit "A," hereto, 
and for the conveyance and preparation, execution, acknowledgment and delivery of deeds to the 
Philadelphia Land Bank, without consideration, pursuant to Section 2109 of the Land Bank Act, 
68 Pa. C.S.A. §2109(d)(3), and Chapter 16-700 of the Philadelphia Code. 

 
FURTHER AUTHORIZING, the preparation, execution, and delivery of all 

documentation necessary to carry out the foregoing in form and substance acceptable to the 
Deputy Executive Director of Real Estate and General Counsel. 
 
 FURTHER AUTHORIZING, that the Deputy Executive Director of Real Estate, with 
the advice of General Counsel, may allow modifications to the Resolution necessary or desirable 
to carry out its purposes and intents. 
 

EXHIBIT "A" 
 
2nd Council District Properties 
 
1306 S 21st Street 
1308 S 21st Street 
1310 S 21st Street 
1312 S 21st Street 
1329 S 21st Street 
1303 S 23rd Street 
1210 S 27th Street 
1212 S 27th Street 
1214 S 27th Street 
1306 S 28th Street 
1213 S Bonsall Street 
1148 S Cleveland Street 

5



                                                  Board Meeting of December 8, 2021  
                                            Volume 67– Page 205 

2632 Ellsworth Street 
1410 S Hicks Street 
2054 Gerrit Street 
2612 Latona Street 
2741 Latona Street 
2743 Latona Street 
2123 Montrose Street 
1701 S Ringgold Street 
1703 S Ringgold Street 
1714 S Taylor Street 
 
3rd Council District Properties 
 
5139 Delancey Street 
 

 
Voting for the foregoing resolution:  Ms. Fadullon, Mr. Cuorato, Ms. Buckley, and Ms. 
Maynard. 
 

 
 
Mr. Lawrence presented "Item I(c) – Conveyance of Philadelphia Redevelopment Property 
to the Philadelphia Land Bank" in substance consistent with the attached Fact Sheet 
hereto.  
 
Board Action  
 
Ms. Fadullon called for a motion on the resolution.  Upon motion made and duly seconded, the 
resolution was approved as follows: 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-81 
 
RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CONVEYANCE OF CERTAIN 
PROPERTY OWNED BY THE PHILADELPHIA REDEVELOPMENT 
AUTHORITY TO THE PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 
 

WHEREAS, Act 153 of 2012, 68 Pa. C.S.A. § 2101, et seq. (the "Land Bank 
Act") authorized the City of Philadelphia ("City") to create a land bank in accordance 
with the Land Bank Act; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City, in Bill No. 130156-A (approved December 18, 2013), 

authorized the creation of the Philadelphia Land Bank and provided for its appointment, 
powers and duties; and 

 

6



                                                  Board Meeting of December 8, 2021  
                                            Volume 67– Page 206 

WHEREAS, under Section 2109 of Land Bank Act, 68 Pa. C.S.A. § 2109(d)(3), 
a redevelopment authority, with the consent of the local governing body and without a 
redevelopment contract, may convey title to certain redevelopment authority property to a 
land bank; and 
 

WHEREAS, the properties identified on Exhibit "A" to this Resolution which are 
owned by the Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority qualify for transfer from the 
Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority to the Philadelphia Land Bank as provided by 
Section 2109 of the Land Bank Act; and 
 

WHEREAS, the transfer of the properties identified on Exhibit "A" to this 
Resolution to the Philadelphia Land Bank will promote the public purposes for which the 
City created the Philadelphia Land Bank; 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Philadelphia Redevelopment 

Authority, that authorization is hereby given to the Philadelphia Redevelopment 
Authority to convey title to those properties identified on Exhibit "A" hereto, to the 
Philadelphia Land Bank, and for the preparation, execution, acknowledgment and 
delivery of deeds to the Philadelphia Land Bank, without consideration, pursuant to 
Section 2109 of Land Bank Act, 68 Pa. C.S.A. § 2109(d)(3), and to obtain the appropriate 
council action. 
 
 FURTHER AUTHORIZING, the preparation, execution, and delivery of all 
documentation necessary to carry out the foregoing in form and substance acceptable to 
the Deputy Executive Director of Real Estate and General Counsel. 
 
 FURTHER AUTHORIZING, that the Deputy Executive Director of Real 
Estate, with the advice of General Counsel, may allow modifications to the Resolution 
necessary or desirable to carry out its purposes and intents. 
 

EXHIBIT "A" 
 
5 t h  Counc i l  Di s tr ic t   
 
1517  N.  33 r d  S t reet  
 
 
Voting for the foregoing resolution:  Ms. Fadullon, Mr. Cuorato, Ms. Buckley, and Ms. Maynard. 
 

 
 
 
 

7



                                                  Board Meeting of December 8, 2021  
                                            Volume 67– Page 207 

Mr. Harmon presented "Item I(d) – Cooperation Agreement with The City of Philadelphia, 
Acting Through its Water Department" in substance consistent with the attached Fact 
Sheet hereto.  
 
Board Action  
 
Ms. Fadullon called for a motion on the resolution.  Upon motion made and duly seconded, the 
resolution was approved as follows: 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-82  
 
RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING A COOPERATION AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE 
REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY AND THE CITY OF PHILADELPHIA, ACTING 
THROUGH ITS WATER DEPARTMENT  
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Philadelphia (the "City"), acting through its Water Department (the 
"Water Department"), has requested that the Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority (the 
"Authority") enter into a Cooperation Agreement ("Cooperation Agreement") to include Water 
Department-identified green stormwater infrastructure projects ("Stormwater Infrastructure") in 
certain City and/or Authority construction projects such that the Authority will provide owner's 
representative services to incorporate the Stormwater Infrastructure into those construction projects 
from the design phase to construction completion in an efficient manner; 
 
 WHEREAS, the City, acting through the Water Department, desires to cooperate with the 
Authority in accordance with Section 8-402 of the Philadelphia Home Rule Charter and Section 
1746.1 of the Redevelopment Cooperation Law, 35 P.S. §§ 1741 et seq., such that the Authority will 
provide the services set forth in the attached Fact Sheet as agent for the City, acting through the 
Water Department; 
 

WHEREAS, the Water Department and the Authority have negotiated the Cooperation 
Agreement which states all terms, conditions, obligations and responsibilities of the parties. 
 
 WHEREAS, the Water Department shall pay an administrative fee to the Authority for its 
services in an amount equal to seven percent (7.00%) of the costs incurred by the Authority 
pursuant to the Cooperation Agreement ("Administrative Fee"); 
 
 WHEREAS, the Cooperation Agreement has a term of one (1) year which may be extended 
for three (3) additional one (1) year periods;  
 
 WHEREAS, in no event shall the amount certified by the City's Finance Department for the 
payment of Costs and the Administrative Fee during the term (or any renewal term) of the 
Cooperation Agreement exceed the maximum amount of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000); 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Philadelphia Redevelopment 
Authority, that the Redevelopment Authority is authorized to execute a Cooperation Agreement 

8



                                                  Board Meeting of December 8, 2021  
                                            Volume 67– Page 208 

with the City, acting through the Water Department, on the terms and conditions set forth herein 
and in the attached Fact Sheet. 
 

FURTHER RESOLVING, that the Deputy Executive Director of Real Estate is 
authorized to execute all further instruments, documents and agreements necessary to effectuate 
the purposes of this Resolution, which instruments, documents and agreements shall contain such 
terms and conditions as the Deputy Executive Director of Real Estate and General Counsel shall 
deem necessary or appropriate to protect the interests of the Authority. 

 
FURTHER AUTHORIZING, that the Deputy Executive Director of Real Estate, with 

the advice of General Counsel, may allow modifications to the Resolution necessary or desirable 
to carry out its purposes and intents. 

 
 

Voting for the foregoing resolution:  Ms. Fadullon, Mr. Cuorato, Ms. Buckley, and Ms. 
Maynard. 
 

 
 
DEVELOPMENT   
 
Mr. Lawrence presented "Item II(a) – Selection of Redeveloper, Alma Xhepaj" in 
substance consistent with the attached Fact Sheet hereto.  
 
Board Action  
 
Ms. Fadullon called for a motion on the resolution.  Upon motion made and duly seconded, the 
resolution was approved as follows: 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 2021-83 

 
RESOLUTION SELECTING ALMA XHEPAJ AS REDEVLOPER OF 2236 E. WILLIAM 
STREET LOCATED IN THE EAST KENSINGTON REDEVELOPMENT AREA, 
AUBURN URBAN RENEWAL AREA 
 
 BE IT RESOLVED, by the Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority, that Alma Xhepaj 
("Redeveloper") is hereby selected as redeveloper of 2236 E. William Street located in the East 
Kensington Redevelopment Area, Auburn Urban Renewal Area, and approval is hereby given to the 
Redevelopment Contract and the proposed method of disposition as most appropriate and prudent 
under the law and circumstances; approving a disposition price of Ten Thousand Five Hundred 
Dollars ($10,500.00); determining that the Redeveloper possesses the qualifications and financial 
resources necessary to acquire and develop the property in accordance with the Redeveloper's 
approved plans; further authorizing the execution, delivery and recording of the Redevelopment 
Contract and a Deed for the property and the preparation of all other documentation necessary or 
desirable in order to carry out the foregoing, and to obtain the appropriate council action.  

9



                                                  Board Meeting of December 8, 2021  
                                            Volume 67– Page 209 

  
 FURTHER RESOLVING, that the Deputy Executive Director of Real Estate, with the 
advice of General Counsel, may allow modifications to the Resolution necessary or desirable to 
carry out its purposes and intents.  

 
 

Voting for the foregoing resolution:  Ms. Fadullon, Mr. Cuorato, Ms. Buckley, and Ms. 
Maynard. 
 

 
 
Mr. Lawrence presented "Item II(b) – Selection of Redeveloper, Alma Xhepaj" in substance 
consistent with the attached Fact Sheet hereto. 
 
Additional Comments and Discussion  
 
Ms. Fadullon pointed out the resolution indicates "E. William Street" and asked for clarification 
if this is correct.  Mr. Harmon responded E. William Street is correct.  Mr. Harmon stated the 
agenda will be correct to reflect E. William Street.   
 
Ms. Fadullon recognized Ms. Xhepaj and invited her to speak.  Ms. Xhepaj asked what the price 
was for 2236 E. William Street.  Mr. Lawrence replied that competitive bid was in the amount of 
$10,500. 
 
Board Action  
 
Ms. Fadullon called for a motion on the resolution.  Upon motion made and duly seconded, the 
resolution was approved as follows: 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-84 
 

RESOLUTION SELECTING ALMA XHEPAJ AS REDEVLOPER OF 2238 E. WILLIAM 
STREET LOCATED IN THE EAST KENSINGTON REDEVELOPMENT AREA, 
AUBURN URBAN RENEWAL AREA 
 
 BE IT RESOLVED, by the Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority, that Alma Xhepaj 
("Redeveloper") is hereby selected as Redeveloper of 2238 E. William Street located in the East 
Kensington Redevelopment Area, Auburn Urban Renewal Area, and approval is hereby given to the 
Redevelopment Contract and the proposed method of disposition as most appropriate and prudent 
under the law and circumstances; approving a disposition price of Thirty Five Thousand Dollars 
($35,000.00); determining that the Redeveloper possesses the qualifications and financial resources 
necessary to acquire and develop the property in accordance with the Redeveloper's approved plans; 
further authorizing the execution, delivery and recording of the Redevelopment Contract, Mortgage 
and a Deed for the property and the preparation of all other documentation necessary or desirable in 
order to carry out the foregoing, and to obtain the appropriate council action.  

10



                                                  Board Meeting of December 8, 2021  
                                            Volume 67– Page 210 

  
 FURTHER RESOLVING, that the Deputy Executive Director of Real Estate, with the 
advice of General Counsel, may allow modifications to the Resolution necessary or desirable to 
carry out its purposes and intents.  
 
 
Voting for the foregoing resolution:  Ms. Fadullon, Mr. Cuorato, Ms. Buckley, and Ms. 
Maynard. 
 

 
 
Mr. Lawrence presented "Item II(c) – Certificate of Completion for 2848 B Street" in 
substance consistent with the attached Fact Sheet hereto.  
 
Board Action  
 
Ms. Fadullon called for a motion on the resolution.  Upon motion made and duly seconded, the 
resolution was approved as follows: 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-85 
 
RESOLUTION APPROVING THE ISSUANCE OF A CERTIFICATE OF 
COMPLETION FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 2848 B STREET  
 
  WHEREAS, the Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority ("Authority") condemned the  
property located at 2848 B Street (the "Property") on June 28, 1985;  
 

WHEREAS, the Property was conveyed by the Authority to Providencia Romero by 
deed dated March 1, 1989 (the "1989 PRA Deed");  
  
  WHEREAS, the Property was developed by Providencia Romero for residential and 
related uses;  
  

WHEREAS, Providencia Romero conveyed the Property to Migdalia Santiago on 
January 11, 2001;  
  
  WHEREAS, Migdalia Santiago conveyed the Property to Bessie Guzman on November 
8, 2005;  
  
 WHEREAS, Bessie Guzman conveyed the Property to Yaffa Yakubov on May 31, 2006;  
  

WHEREAS, Yaffa Yakubov, the current owner of the Property, has requested a 
Certificate of Completion from the Authority;  
  

11



                                                  Board Meeting of December 8, 2021  
                                            Volume 67– Page 211 

  NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Philadelphia Redevelopment 
Authority, that the Deputy Executive Director of Real Estate is hereby authorized to issue a 
Certificate of Completion certifying the completion of the development of the Property located at 
2848 B Street in accordance with the 1989 PRA Deed, subject to the following restrictions 
remaining of record:  
  

1. That no person shall be deprived of the right to live in the 
Property or to use any of the facilities therein, by reason of race, 
creed, color or national origin.  
2. That there shall be no discrimination in the use, sale or 
lease of any part of the Property against any person because of 
race, color, religion or national origin.  

  
FURTHER AUTHORIZING, the preparation, execution, and delivery of all 

documentation necessary to carry out the foregoing in form and substance acceptable to the 
Deputy Executive Director of Real Estate and General Counsel.  
  

FURTHER RESOLVING, that the Deputy Executive Director of Real Estate, with the 
advice of General Counsel, may allow modifications to the Resolution necessary or desirable to 
carry out its purposes and intents.  

  
 
Voting for the foregoing resolution:  Ms. Fadullon, Mr. Cuorato, Ms. Buckley, and Ms. 
Maynard. 

 
 
Mr. Harmon presented "Item II(d) – Selection of Redeveloper and Approval of Ground Lease 
Agreement and Redevelopment Agreement with 624 S. 13th Street L.L.C." in substance 
consistent with the Attached Fact Sheet hereto.  
 
Additional Comments and Discussion  
 
Mr. Harmon for the record stated that he received numerous letters and emails from the public in 
opposition against this project and Mr. Harmon listed the individuals.  Mr. Harmon further stated 
he received one (1) letter in support for this project from Ms. Thomas.   
 
Mr. Harmon stated all the letters and emails were forwarded to the Board.  Furthermore, Mr. 
Harmon stated all correspondence in support or opposed to this project would be attached to 
today's minutes.  
 
Ms. Fadullon asked what the Board is considering today.  Mr. Harmon presented the redeveloper 
selection and approval of ground lease and redevelopment agreement.  Mr. Harmon stated Mr. 
Lawrence and the redeveloper are present and will be able to answer any questions.   
 

12



                                                  Board Meeting of December 8, 2021  
                                            Volume 67– Page 212 

Mr. Harmon stated there is a slight difference between the Request for Proposals ("RFP") and 
what is being requested in today's Board package.  Mr. Lawrence stated that the RFP requested 
that proposals were not to exceed 60% Area Median Income ("AMI").   
 
At this time, Ms. Fadullon asked if any members of the Board had any questions.  There was 
none.  
 
Ms. Fadullon stated the Board is fully aware there are members of the public who would like to 
address the Board in regard to this item.  Ms. Fadullon stated she would recognize individuals in 
the order hands are raised.  Ms. Fadullon further stated that each individual will be allotted three 
(3) minutes to address the Board; however, there would be no-back and forth.  
 
Ms. Fadullon recognized Ms. Colabella and invited her to speak.  Ms. Colabella stated she is a 
neighbor on the other side of Broad Street.  Ms. Colabella stated her view looks directly at the 
tree canopy and that the canopy should be protected as they have been there for over 70 to 80 
years.   
 
Ms. Fadullon recognized Ms. DelBaggio and invited her to speak.  Ms. DelBaggio explained she 
is a neighbor and resides directly across the street where the trash is stored.  Ms. DelBaggio 
asked whether the redeveloper has considered the amount of trash that will be produced with 
forty-five (45) units and whether trash collection was discussed.  Ms. DelBaggio raised a concern 
in regard to sustainability of parking and no offsite parking.   
 
Ms. Fadullon recognized Ms. Thomas and invited her to speak.  Ms. Thomas informed the 
members of the Board that she submitted a letter in support because this project was geared 
towards affordable housing.  Ms. Judy raised a concern in regard to the AMI requirement and 
Mr. Rodriguez explained the difference between the RFP and what was offered in the proposal 
submitted by the redeveloper and that 35% of the total number of units would be at an affordable 
level.   
 
Ms. Fadullon recognized Ms. Puckett and invited her to speak.  Ms. Puckett stated that she was 
here with Ms. Perry and wanted to correct the record by stating that Ms. Perry actually supported 
the project and was not opposed to the project as Mr. Harmon stated.  Mr. Harmon apologized 
for the error.    
 
Ms. Perry informed the Board members that she is a longtime 60+ year resident of the old MLK 
and New Hawthorne community.  Ms. Perry stated the community has seen change in the 
neighborhood based on income level of new neighbors coming in.  Ms. Perry asked what the 
income levels would be set at for the affordable units. Mr. Lawrence responded that, for a 2-
bedroom unit, the amount is $1,630, for a 1-bedroom unit, the amount is $1,350, and for a studio, 
the amount is $1,106.   
 
Ms. Fadullon stated this why the Board had questions regarding the affordability level proposed 
for this project.  Ms. Perry stated that, as a longtime resident over the last 61 years, she has seen 
numerous changes in the community.  Ms. Perry informed the Board that many of the 
constituents living in this community are seniors who are attempting to hold onto their 

13



                                                  Board Meeting of December 8, 2021  
                                            Volume 67– Page 213 

properties.  Ms. Perry further stated seniors cannot afford it because of all the high-rise 
developments taking over the neighborhood.   
 
Ms. Perry stated that she stated this concern in the correspondence she sent to Mr. Harmon.  Ms. 
Perry stated that the residents are looking for stable, affordable housing.  Ms. Perry further stated 
that the seniors living in this neighborhood were there during the pain and struggles and did their 
best to make the neighborhood welcoming for new residents.  Ms. Perry further stated that she 
fully supports this mixed-income project.  
 
Ms. Fadullon recognized Mr. Wells and invited him to speak.  Mr. Wells stated that he lives at 
1329 Bainbridge Street and fully supports this project.  Mr. Wells explained that this is a vacant 
lot which is used as a dumping site for trash, that the lot has a rodent and weed problem, and that 
the lot is an area where people linger at.  Mr. Wells stated that there are already several 
dumpsters located on Kater and Clarion Streets which are used for surrounding commercial 
buildings, as well as residential trash pickup.  Mr. Wells stated trash trucks come at all hours of 
the night.  Furthermore, Mr. Wells stated he supports affordable housing in the community.  
 
Ms. Fadullon recognized Mr. Fisher and invited him to speak.  Mr. Fisher stated he resides at 
1312 Bainbridge Street and is directly across from the vacant lot.  Mr. Fisher stated that he has a 
camera and can confirm no one is lingering on the lot at night.  Mr. Fisher stated that the lot is 
well maintained by a few community members and has been converted to green space.  Mr. 
Fisher stated he is the president of a nearby homeowner's association and that the vacant lot is a 
safe haven for the community.  Mr. Fisher stated there are no reports of trash issues, no police 
reports, and no safety issues.   
 
Mr. Fisher stated the idea of affordable housing is important to the community; however, the 
question that needs to be answered is whether this project is truly providing affordable housing 
as the rent rates provided don't seem to be affordable.  Finally, Mr. Fisher stated that he has 
attempted to reach out to the developer with phone calls, voice messages and emails, but has not 
been able to speak with the developer.  Mr. Fisher stated that there is no open line of 
communication or dialogue between the community and the developer.  Finally, Mr. Fisher 
stated he a committed resident and homeowner and that there are 109 homeowners in the 
Hawthorne community.   
 
Ms. Fadullon recognized Mr. Dickson and invited him to speak.  Mr. Dickson stated that he has 
resided on 1627 13th Street for the last eleven (11) years.  Mr. Dickson stated that he is grateful 
that a proposal is on the table after several failed attempts.  Mr. Dickson stated that his issue is 
that the that the community has been completely excluded from the process.  Mr. Dickson 
explained to the Board that he may be in support of the project, but there has been no community 
involvement in the process, and that makes him hesitant.  Mr. Dickson stated that the community 
doesn't know or fully understand what is happening.  Mr. Dickson stated he has been an advocate 
for development of this lot for the last eleven (11) years.  Mr. Dickson stated that many residents 
have long-term roots and are invested in the community – they just want to be involved in the 
decision-making process.   
 

14



                                                  Board Meeting of December 8, 2021  
                                            Volume 67– Page 214 

Ms. Fadullon recognized Ms. Finn and invited her to speak.  Ms. Finn stated she is heartbroken 
at what Mr. Wells stated previously and that this lot is not being used as a dump and that people 
do not linger around the lot.  Ms. Finn stated people from the community take care of the lot and 
keep it clean.  Ms. Finn informed the Board that the community has vast interests in this lot.  Ms. 
Finn questioned whether the proposal really provides affordable housing.  Ms. Finn stated her 
son plays at this lot every day and that members of the community treat it as a park.  Ms. Finn 
stated she is always going to fight for children to have a green space to play.  Ms. Finn 
questioned whether it was absolutely necessary to develop this lot and remove the 80 year old 
trees.  Ms. Finn stated that when William Penn designed this City, the goal was to make it a 
green country town along with green spaces and not just about apartment buildings or buildings.  
Ms. Finn asked the members of the Board not turn this space into an apartment building.   
 
Ms. Fadullon recognized "Turtlebug" and invited him or her to speak.  Mr. Buckley stated that 
he is an early childhood educator in Hawthorne community and has been teaching for seventeen 
(17) years.  Mr. Buckley Stated that the pre-school with he is affiliated utilized the lot during 
pandemic for an art and play space.  Mr. Buckley stated that pre-school staff members have 
assisted with cleaning the lot and removed broken glass and bottles.  Mr. Buckley stated that he 
reached out to the developer a handful of times and has heard nothing.  Mr. Buckley stated that 
green space is extremely important in this community and that other open spaces are further 
away.  Mr. Buckley asked the Board members to visit turtlebug.org or view their Instagram page 
for more details.   
 
Ms. Fadullon recognized Mr. Ebalchunas and invited him to speak.  Mr. Ebalchunas informed 
the Board that his wife submitted a letter in opposition to the project.  Mr. Ebalchunas stated his 
family lives on 1305 Kater Street and have resided there for eight (8) years.  Mr. Ebalchunas 
explained there were big dumpsters in front of their home and when trash collection occurred, 
the dumpsters would scrap against the street and cause spillage and trash fumes.  Mr. Ebalchunas 
stated that the trash concerns make them want to move to the suburbs.   
 
Mr. Ebalchunas continued by stating that parking is extremely tough in this community.  Mr. 
Ebalchunas stated that he is concerned there isn't a parking garage as part of the project and that 
there is far too much construction going on in the area.  Mr. Ebalchunas stated that green space is 
important for this community and that, which the residents understand this lot is not theirs, 
residents have worked extremely hard to fix up the lot so it would not be an eyesore.   
 
Mr. Ebalchunas disagreed with what Mr. Wells stated previously and stated that this lot is not 
being used as a dump and that people do not linger around the lot.  Mr. Ebalchunas stated he 
understands the needs of the developer but that it would have been nice to involve the 
community in the process.  Mr. Ebalchunas stated he wanted to make his voice heard.  
 
Ms. Fadullon recognized Mr. Wilkins and invited him to speak.  Mr. Wilkins stated he lives at 
1612 S. Clarion Street and that his property is around the corner from the park.  Mr. Wilkins 
stated that Ms. Silo submitted a letter on their behalf.  Mr. Wilkins stated his concern mainly is 
the lack of community engagement.  Mr. Wilkins stated that everyone realizes something is 
going to happen with this lot and that he would love to see the lot maintained as green space and 
have the six (6) trees remain.   

15



                                                  Board Meeting of December 8, 2021  
                                            Volume 67– Page 215 

 
Mr. Wilkins stated that the proposed plans are a surprise to the community as they originally 
believed this parcel was going to be developed into row homes.  Mr. Wilkins stated that the 
number of units will cause a further strain to parking in the area.  Mr. Wilkins reiterated that his 
overall concern is that there has been no community involvement or any attempt to engage with 
the neighboring homeowner's association.  
 
Ms. Fadullon recognized Mr. Hicks, Jr. and invited him to speak.  Mr. Hicks stated he is the 
President of the Neighborhood Association of Hawthorne called the Hawthorne Environment 
Coalition ("HEC") and that this organization came into existence in 1999 because of the HOPE 
VI project.  Mr. Hicks stated that part of that agreement was for the community to become 
involved because it affected the residents and their homes.  Mr. Hicks discussed the neighboring 
community parks/open spaces available to community residents. 
 
Mr. Hicks stated that the developer leaving the community out of the negotiation process is a 
major concern.  Mr. Hicks informed the members of the Board that the neighborhood association 
reached out to the developer and the Authority and never received a response.   
 
Mr. Hicks stated on a personal level he likes the development; however, the main issue is that the 
affordability numbers are not low enough for community members already residing in this area.  
Mr. Hicks stated he has lived in this neighborhood since the late 1950's.  Mr. Hicks stated his 
main contention is not enough communication.  Mr. Hicks then stated that he has no issues what 
is going to be developed here.   
 
Ms. Fadullon recognized Ms. Diana and invited her to speak.  Ms. Diana stated she lives at 13th 
and South Streets and requested to read the letter she submitted to the Board of Directors.1  Ms. 
Fadullon permitted Ms. Diana to read the letter and thanked Ms. Diana for her comments.   
 
Ms. Fadullon recognized Ms. Toler and invited her to speak.  Ms. Toler state she lives on the 
1000 block of S. 13th Street.  Ms. Toler stated that one of the issues is that there is not enough 
low-income or affordable housing in the community.  Ms. Toler also stated that she does not 
want to see anything being taken away from the children because they need a place to play.  Ms. 
Toler further stated she has concerns for the homeless and they need a place to live as well.   
 
Ms. Fadullon stated at this time we are going to hear from the developer, Mr. Sullivan.  Mr. 
Sullivan thanked everyone from the community for taking the time out to attend today's meeting, 
voicing their concerns and support for the development.   
 
Ms. Fadullon asked Mr. Sullivan to respond as best as possible to the concerns being raised 
about parking, trash, density, and affordability.   
 
Mr. Sullivan stated he does understand the concerns relating to trash.  Mr. Sullivan stated his 
team has been thoughtful with the design and how trash is being managed for a 45-unit 
apartment building.  Mr. Sullivan stated there is an oversized trash room, which is located inside 
the building, and that service will be no more than three (3) times a week by commercial trash 

 
1 The letter referenced by Ms. Diana is attached to these Minutes. 

16



                                                  Board Meeting of December 8, 2021  
                                            Volume 67– Page 216 

haulers.  Mr. Sullivan stated there is no commercial kitchen or commercial use onsite which 
would create excessive trash.  Mr. Sullivan explained the apartments would be outfitted with all 
new appliances such as garbage disposals and that he has not had a trash issue with the other 
developments in the City that he has been a part of.   
 
Next, Mr. Sullivan discussed the tree canopy issue.  Mr. Sullivan stated at this time there are 4-5 
mature trees on the lot, but that he did not believe they were 70-80 years old because the trees 
were taken out as part of the demolition of the twin towers that previously existed on the lot.  Mr. 
Sullivan stated there are plans to replace the trees on the perimeter around the building with nine 
(9) new trees.  Mr. Sullivan stated he realizes change is hard; however, the nine (9) new trees 
would grow to replace the existing tree canopy.   
 
Mr. Sullivan then responded to the parking issue by stating this development does not have 
parking onsite.  Mr. Sullivan stated he understands the concerns from the community about the 
parking issue.  Mr. Sullivan stated that he lives in the area as well and that he doesn't believe 
there will be an abundance of vehicles due to the close proximity to public transportation and 
that apartment renters differ from homeowners.   
 
Mr. Sullivan then stated that that the developer's goal is to offer workforce housing and this 
project will not offer the lowest level of affordability.  Mr. Sullivan stated that this project is not 
receiving any sort of public subsidy.  Mr. Sullivan stated that the developer is trying to preserve 
some level of affordability in a changing neighborhood.  Mr. Sullivan stated that he believes the 
affordability level being presented fills a legitimate void in the community for people who are 
workforce housing residents. Mr. Sullivan stated there are units that are reserved for affordability 
which present an opportunity to serve that community, which is vital for the City's workforce.   
 
Mr. Sullivan stated in this neighborhood where AMI is at $98,000, this apartment complex 
would preserve affordable units for a group of residents that are often overlooked. 
 
Ms. Fadullon asked Mr. Sullivan to respond to the concerns regarding community engagement 
and outreach as the community has stated that there has been no engagement.  Mr. Sullivan 
replied no there was not.  Mr. Sullivan stated that this is a responsibility that should be addressed 
by the developer.  Mr. Sullivan stated that this was a by-right project and that the developer 
believed the approval by the Planning Commission and other urban planning representatives was 
sufficient.  Mr. Sullivan stated that the developer is very open to engage with the community and 
have been working with Mr. Rodriguez and Mr. Lawrence over the last several months on 
finalizing the redevelopment agreement.  Mr. Sullivan stated that he wanted to make sure 
everything was finalized as to the redevelopment agreement before having these conversations.   
 
Mr. Sullivan stated that he believed that having conversations with the community would not 
have been productive until after today's Board meeting.  Mr. Sullivan stated his intent was not to 
shut out the community and, as a community-based developer and resident of the community, he 
wants to include the community in further conversations.  
 
Ms. Fadullon stated the Board has heard from many members of the community, heard people in 
favor of the development, those in favor for green space as well as concerns involving trash, 

17



                                                  Board Meeting of December 8, 2021  
                                            Volume 67– Page 217 

parking and affordability.  Ms. Fadullon stated this is very difficult to have these conversations 
but this is why there is a Board of Directors to make difficult decisions around these issues.   
 
At this time, Ms. Fadullon called the question and asked for a motion from the Board.  Ms. 
Maynard asked to amend the resolution to require that rents have to be affordable at 60% of 
AMI.  Ms. Fadullon asked if there was a second on this amendment to the resolution?  Ms. 
Buckley seconded the motion and asked if language could also be added identifying the specific 
income requirements to provide clarity for everybody.  Ms. Fadullon asked how we can set that 
at this time.   
 
Mr. Harmon asked for clarification about the language being requested to insert in the resolution.  
Mr. Harmon stated that tenants will not pay rents until the project is completed and that AMI will 
change year-to-year, so there may be an issue citing specific numbers.   
 
Ms. Fadullon stated that it is most likely that the income levels will change over time and that the 
larger issue is that the RFP response from the developer may not have met the intent of the RFP.  
Ms. Fadullon stated her understanding is the RFP specifically called for 35% of the units to be 
affordable at 60% AMI at or below.  Ms. Fadullon stated that this is not what is being presented 
to the Board today.  
 
Ms. Fadullon stated there are numerous concerns here and that this Board encourages all 
developers to speak with community members early in the process, or as soon as possible, so that 
such feedback can potentially be incorporated into the project.   
 
Board Action  
 
Ms. Fadullon stated the Board has an amended motion on the floor.  Ms. Fadullon asked her 
fellow Board members to consider tabling this item to allow the developer to work through these 
issues.   
 
Ms. Maynard made a motion to table this item, which motion was seconded by Ms. Buckley.   
 
Voting for tabling this item:  Ms. Fadullon, Ms. Buckley, and Ms. Maynard. 
 
Mr. Rodriguez asked for clarification how staff should move forward.  Ms. Fadullon replied to 
the Board has laid out exactly what the Board is looking for as to affordability, compliance with 
the RFP and undertaking a community engagement process.   
 

 
 
OLD BUSINESS 
 
Ms. Fadullon recognized Ms. Dooley and invited her to speak.  Ms. Dooley stated she put a 
question in the chat feature.  Ms. Fadullon read the question – "How can the community continue to 
work with the Authority on the redevelopment of the Germantown Y.  Ms. Fadullon replied a 

18



                                                  Board Meeting of December 8, 2021  
                                            Volume 67– Page 218 

discussion occurred yesterday at the community meeting which was held regarding the 
Germantown Y.  Ms. Fadullon stated that staff will discuss with the consultants who are already 
engaging with the community.  Ms. Fadullon stated it is essential to figure out how the next 
community engagement sessions can be more productive.  Ms. Fadullon further stated everyone 
wants to see this property redeveloped and that working together is imperative.   
 
Ms. Fadullon recognized Ms. Forman and invited her to speak.  Ms. Forman stated that she and her 
husband have concerns about how to ensure community engagement takes place with respect to the 
13th & Bainbridge project.  Ms. Fadullon stated that staff realizes this project will not come back 
before the Board until community engagement occurs and the concerns regarding affordability 
levels for the project are addressed.  Mr. Forman stated that they have lived in this community for 
20 years and are business owners.  Mr. Forman stated parking is a real issue and that discussions 
need to take place with the developer to address the parking issues.   
 
Ms. Fadullon stated the developers of 13th & Bainbridge would like to speak.  Ms. Fadullon stated 
that this item has been tabled but will permit the developer to speak.  Ms. Fadullon recognized Mr. 
Penn and invited him to speak.  Mr. Penn sated that he is the President of the developer, Benchmark 
Construction Group.  Mr. Penn stated that he has listened to all the comments and would be 
reaching out to the homeowner's association and the Hawthorne Community Group by tomorrow.  
Mr. Penn stated that he already has some contact information to reach out to the appropriate parties.  
Mr. Penn apologized and stated his company is excited about this project and understands the 
community concerns.  Mr. Penn stated he was a member of a civic association in Spring Garden and 
knows the importance of community outreach.   
 
Ms. Fadullon recognized Ms. Weiss and invited her to speak. Ms. Weiss indicated in the chat 
feature that a correction needs to be made to the Board minutes from December's meeting to fix a 
property address.  Mr. Harmon responded that he would correct this typo in the minutes.  Ms. 
Fadullon stated the minutes will be updated to reflect this correction.  
 
Ms. Weiss stated that she has a few further questions as to the Germantown Y project.  Ms. Weiss 
asked whether there was an error made on that project as to one of the applicants being identified as 
a minority business entity.  Ms. Fadullon stated she was not sure whether that was accurate as the 
RFP process took place over five (5) years ago but that she has asked staff to look into that claim.   
 
Ms. Weiss then asked what the stated reason was for terminating the existing relationship with 
KBK.  Ms. Weiss asked if a new RFP has been issued and, if not, when that would happen.  Ms. 
Fadullon replied that the termination letter just went out last week.  Mr. Harmon confirmed that the 
Authority terminated the relationship with KBK because KBK was unable to provide satisfactory 
evidence of financial commitment necessary to complete the project.  Ms. Fadullon stated that a 
community engagement process will take place to enable staff to have productive communications 
with the community as to the ultimate use of the property and, following that, an RFP may be 
reissued.  
 
Ms. Fadullon stated that it is clear from last night's community meeting that there is passion about 
the Germantown Y project and that everyone wants to see this building successfully redeveloped in 
a reasonable timeframe.  

19



                                                  Board Meeting of December 8, 2021  
                                            Volume 67– Page 219 

 
Ms. Weiss then asked for a list of KBK's expenditures with respect to the now-terminated project 
and asked if any funds were contributed by the City or any of the City's agencies.  Ms. Fadullon 
replied that staff does not have access KBK's expenses because KBK is a private company.  Ms. 
Fadullon stated that, with respect to public funds, although there was an approval to contribute Two 
Million Dollars ($2,000,000) towards the project, that funding was never provided as any such 
disbursement was contingent on KBK satisfying all pre-conditions to commencing construction. 
 
Ms. Weiss asked if KBK made any improvements to the Germantown Y over the past five (5) 
years.  Ms. Fadullon stated that any costs incurred by KBK were pre-construction costs and were 
not attributable to improvements made to the property.  Ms. Fadullon explained that developers 
incur costs when working towards developing a property so there might have been estimates, 
staffing time, drawings, etc.  Ms. Fadullon added that KBK did apply for federal historic tax credits 
for the project and there are costs associated with this.   
 
Mr. Harmon stated for the record that the termination letter went out on December 2, 2021.  
 
Ms. Fadullon thanked everyone for their comments and wished everyone a wonderful holiday 
season.  
 

 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
Ms. Fadullon inquired if there was any new business for the Board.  No new business was presented 
to the Board.  
 

 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
There being no further business to come before the Board, Ms. Fadullon declared the meeting 
adjourned at 5:40 P.M. 
 
 
       
       ___________________________ 
       SECRETARY TO THE BOARD 
 
 
 
 

20



 Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
  Volume 67– Page 220 

[PUBLIC ATTENDANCE LIST AND TRANSCRIPT OF QUESTIONS AND 
RESPONSES THERETO, IF ANY, ARE ATTACHED ON FOLLOWING PAGE] 

21



Attended User Name (Original Name) Email
Yes Virgis A. balticorpllc@gmail.com
Yes Laverne Vaughn lavernemvaughn4@gmail.com
Yes Judi judithomas73@gmail.com
Yes Ryan till 11tillr@gmail.com
Yes Aine R Doley aine.doley@gmail.com
Yes Tom Copestick tomdevonmorgan@hotmail.com
Yes Bonny Hohenberger bjh711@gmail.com
Yes Bonny Hohenberger bjh711@gmail.com
Yes Kenn Penn kpenn@benchmarkcg.net
Yes Gwendolyn Toler gwendolyntoler04@gmail.com
Yes Gwendolyn Toler gwendolyntoler04@gmail.com
Yes Abdul-Rahim Muhammad icpic@rcn.com
Yes Beatrice brsmith1@hotmail.com
Yes Erin DelBaggio erindelbaggio@gmail.com
Yes Emily Arnold arnol22e@yahoo.com
Yes Eugene Desyatnik desyatniky@radial.com
Yes Jamila# PHDC/DPD jamila.davis@phila.gov
Yes Colleen Puckett colleenpuckett@yahoo.com
Yes Colleen Puckett colleenpuckett@yahoo.com
Yes Colleen Puckett colleenpuckett@yahoo.com
Yes Colleen Puckett colleenpuckett@yahoo.com
Yes Don Maedche maedched@yahoo.com
Yes Trang Balchunas trang.balchunas@gnail.con
Yes Will Gross will@oxcoffee.com
Yes The Howards emailthehowardfamily@gmail.com
Yes wjaffe1 wjaffe1@gmail.com
Yes wjaffe1 wjaffe1@gmail.com
Yes wjaffe1 wjaffe1@gmail.com
Yes Ashley Colabella ashley.colabella@gmail.com
Yes NBC10 wcauzoom@gmail.com
Yes Jason L jr.lee@me.com
Yes ebalchunas ebalchunas@gmail.com
Yes Joni Lipson jlipson1010@gmail.com
Yes Cris DeFino cadefino@comcast.net
Yes Marline Paramour mparamour@ccp.edu
Yes Gerald Wells g.wells@ritascorp.com
Yes Mathew Huffman mhuffman@almaarchitecture.com
Yes Dave Thomas dave.thomas@phdc.phila.gov
Yes 823893 eppy540@comcast.net
Yes 823893 eppy540@comcast.net
Yes 823893 eppy540@comcast.net
Yes 823893 eppy540@comcast.net
Yes Suzee Hanks siouxsieque11@gmail.com

PRA Board Attendance of December 08, 2021 

Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 221 22



Yes Pat goldy8420@yahoo.com
Yes Alma Xhepaj almaxhepaj1977@gmail.com
Yes 12674750221
Yes Jennifer Laverty jenlaverty@gmail.com
Yes Dina Testa donut.testa@gmail.com
Yes Dina Testa donut.testa@gmail.com
Yes finn finn@onalarkpictures.com
Yes Megan McCoy (she/her) mmccoy@centerinthepark.org
Yes Megan McCoy (she/her) mmccoy@centerinthepark.org
Yes Eugene Desyatnik gene.desyatnik@gmail.com
Yes Richard Dickson rdallasjr@comcast.net
Yes Erin Sweeney erin.sweeney26@gmail.com
Yes Sophia Fox# Quest sophia.fox@qcausa.com
Yes Kristin Haskins simms kyhaskins@gmail.com
Yes Turtlebug play@turtlebug.org
Yes David H. Yukhananov therealestate.llc@gmail.com
Yes Mathen.Pullukattu mathen.pullukattu@phdc.phila.gov
Yes Julie Stapleton Carroll tug14154@temple.edu
Yes Sonya Nickerson sonya@maplehousing.org
Yes Alfred whitfield alfredwhitfield00@gmail.com
Yes Brent Howard brent.howard@katapult.com
Yes Diana diana.tdinh@outlook.com
Yes a weiss/SoLo awfromhh5@gmail.com
Yes Henry Sullivan henry@benchmarkcg.net
Yes Albert Hicks Jr hicksrenovations@gmail.com
Yes Jacquelyn Sims jacquelyn@maplehousing.org
Yes Ashish Patil apatil121@gmail.com
Yes Ashish Patil apatil121@gmail.com
Yes Michael Wilkins mikewilkinsjr@gmail.com
Yes Tim Fisher timothycfisher@gmail.com
Yes LC lscros@cs.com
Yes Jason Wallace jasonwallace747@gmail.com
Yes Jason Wallace jasonwallace747@gmail.com
Yes Betsy Epstein betsycarpentermorris@comcast.net
Yes rose rose.graziul@gmail.com
Yes rose rose.graziul@gmail.com
Yes Todd Hestand todd.hestand@phdc.phila.gov
Yes Krystal Dillard krystal.credit.chicka@gmail.com
Yes Ann Doley adthyme@aol.com
Yes Sharon Forman sharonforman@gmail.com

Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 22223



# Question Asker Name Asker Email Answer(s)

1

The new property at 
Bainbridge and Kater has 
no sustainable offstreet 
parking. How does the 
board expect this influx 
of 45 units to be 
maintainable from a 
parking standpoint with 
the current constricts and 
residents in parking 
corridor 22? Erin DelBaggio Erindelbaggio@gmail.com

We will take questions on 
this item later in the 
agenda. Thank you for 
submitting.

2

Hello, I am David H. 
Yukhananov 
in regards to 2848 B st

David H. 
Yukhananov 

TheRealEstate.LLC@gma
il.com

Thank you, when this item 
comes up for 
consideration, if you wish 
to speak you will be 
recognized.

3

The utility and trash for 
the 45 units at bainbridge 
and kater will be located 
15 ft from a private 
residence front door. How 
does the board and the 
developer plan to contain 
the trash of 45 units so 
that the residents of Kater 
street are not impacted? Erin DelBaggio Erindelbaggio@gmail.com

We will take questions on 
this item later in the 
agenda. Thank you for 
submitting.

4

is there a list of 
maintenance expenditures 
for the lower germantown 
properties and how 
exactly will the additional 
50k be used ? also how 
who was permitted to 
occupy.  many tenants 
were not permitted to 
remain. thank you -allison 
weiss a weiss/SoLo awfromhh5@gmail.com live answered

PRA Board Meeting of December 08, 2021 - Q & A 

Board Meeting of December 8, 2021
Volume 67 - Page 223

24



5

Friends for the 
Restoration of G’Town 
YWCA Building 
respectfully requests a 
written account from the 
PRA of the Germantown 
YWCA property as it 
pertains to the RFP, the 
review of the sole bid, the 
subsequent award to KBK 
and the most recent 
rescinding of your 
agreement.  

Thank you.

Julie Stapleton Carroll
Board President
Germantown United CDC

Julie Stapleton 
Carroll tug14154@temple.edu

We will be able to address 
your request at the end of 
the agenda during old/new 
business

6

why is this being done 
prior to the community 
meeting to discuss the 
lower germsntown 
properties. -allison a weiss/SoLo awfromhh5@gmail.com live answered

7

Hi-are you able to put our 
faces on screen? IT would 
be helpul to see who’s 
here—any way to capture 
our attendance? Colleen Puckett 

colleenpuckett@yahoo.co
m

This is a particular 
meeting format that does 
not allow for that.

8

Hello , this is concerning 
parcel located at 13th and 
Bainbridge Sts.
Is Johnny Buckley related 
to Ms. Buckley the board 
member? Albert Hicks Jr 

Hicksrenovations@gmail.
com

Hello, Buckley is my 
married name and I am not 
related to anyone named 
Johnny Buckley. Thank 
you.

9

Why isn’t the property on 
13 & Bainbridge going to 
provide parking? It’s a 
new construction and no 
hardship. They need to 
provide parking like the 
rest of new construction. Sharon Forman sharonforman@gmail.com

We will take questions on 
this item later in the 
agenda. Thank you for 
submitting.

Board Meeting of December 8, 2021
Volume 67 - Page 224 

25



10

MLK Plaza HOA 
president here; the five 
single family homes 
developed by PHA in our 
HOA directly across from 
the the Bainbridge street 
project do not have 
parking; adding 45 units 
will make it near 
impossible for exisisting 
homeowners to find 
parking Tim Fisher 

timothycfisher@gmail.co
m

We will take questions on 
this item later in the 
agenda. Thank you for 
submitting.

11

Our HOA has reached out 
to Benchmark 
Construction numerous 
times via phone and email 
but no open 
communication has been 
established. Tim Fisher 

timothycfisher@gmail.co
m

We will take questions on 
this item later in the 
agenda. Thank you for 
submitting.

12

i just noticed in the 
minutes my 
comments/question 152-
58 w logan was written as 
52-58 w logan.  can that 
be corrected. a weiss/SoLo awfromhh5@gmail.com live answered

Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 22526



13

20 years with the Penn 
rose developement we 
agreed to have market 
rate housing and plans 
were provided. We built 
our homes and neighbors 
built homes and settled 
along with those agreed 
plans. Now the city and 
developer is pushing a 
new agenda into a single 
family neighborhood that 
is 180 degrees opposite of 
what we agreed on in the 
past. We have lived a few 
houses away from this 
project and previously 
owned all neighboring 
properties adjecent to this 
project. we waited 10 
years as the city was not 
ready to move forward 
with this poperty. we 
spent 10 years and 
hundreds of thousands of 
dollars delveloping 
around this property 
along with our Business 
of 83 years 1 block away. 
No parking  along with a Sharon Forman sharonforman@gmail.com

Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 22627



14

Hi Angel, thank you.  
(item 2d) Additionally, 
when the homes on 
Clarion St were built, 
there were major soil 
contaimination issues that 
led to sinking 
foundations....a few 
months ago, we had to 
have the sidewalk there 
replaced from sinking.  
This is consistent with the 
sidewalk sinking that is 
currently occurring on the 
sidewalk neighboring the 
lot at 13th and 
Bainbridge.  This lot 
belonged to our MLK 
Plaza HOA for 
development via PHA 
prior to reconveyance 
after ten years.  We have 
extensive information 
regarding the integrity of 
this lot and are one of the 
parties significantly 
responsible for the 
successful transition of it 
becoming a public, safe 
and clean green space Tim Fisher 

timothycfisher@gmail.co
m

15

Correction *20 years ago 
with the Penn Rose 
Development… Sharon Forman sharonforman@gmail.com

Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 227 

28



16

Regarding conveyance of 
the 13th & Bainbridge 
street parcels, lovingly 
known as Turtlebug. We 
humbly ask that the 
counsel consider 
preserving this land for 
natural play and 
stewardship. Since 
September 2020, a vibrant 
group of 1-2 year olds 
have come to love and 
care for this land. Natural 
land and open space 
resources in Hawthorne 
are depleting at a rapid 
rate. 

We’d also like to 
acknowledge and honor 
the Lenape, as this land is 
traditionally Lenape. Turtlebug play@turtlebug.org

17

2848 B St, 
Am I still needed for this 
hearing ?

David H. 
Yukhananov 

TheRealEstate.LLC@gma
il.com

No the Certificate was 
approved. Please follow up 
with Jessie tomorrow 
about next steps

18

Looking at the plans as 
published, where would 
the entrance be for the 
park?  It's not obvious 
from the plans as posted Michael Wilkins mikewilkinsjr@gmail.com

19

I live acroiss the street 
from this. I heard the 
trash will be kept and 
collected on kater (right 
in front of our house) and 
there's no parking. 
Already very tough to 
find parking. Also we've 
had so much construction 
lately it's disrupting 
quality of life. The Lot 
harms no one sitting 
there. Big trees, nice 
random green space. We 
(my wife and two kids) 
are against this. Could 
cause us to move. ebalchunas ebalchunas@gmail.com

Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 22829



20

With the city of 
Philadelphia’s canopy 
assessment in 2019. The 
recommendation is to 
preserve mature trees. I 
want to see these mature 
trees incorporated into the 
design. The city’s goal is 
to preserve and protect 
mature trees as stated in 
the assessment. Ashley Colabella 

ashley.colabella@gmail.co
m

21

We do not see a 13th 
street Park-let on the 
rendering. All written 
Communication with the 
developer, 
benchmarkcg.net, has 
gone unanswered. We 
have a petition to 
preserve the land with 
1370 signatures. For more 
information about our 
playful stewardship, and 
the importance and value 
of green spaces, please 
visit Turtlebug.org Turtlebug play@turtlebug.org

22

Given the population 
density in the area of 13th 
and baimbridge why is it 
thought that a new apt 
building would be a better 
use of this lot than a 
neighborhood park 823893 eppy540@comcast.net

23

Where are you thinking 
that all of these new 
tenants will be parking 823893 eppy540@comcast.net

24
Michelle Perry wrote  
letter in support Colleen Puckett 

colleenpuckett@yahoo.co
m

25
I think most of us are 
here. Michael Wilkins mikewilkinsjr@gmail.com

26
Was my question 
received? Ashley Colabella 

ashley.colabella@gmail.co
m

27
Please correct 
publicly—ichelle Colleen Puckett 

colleenpuckett@yahoo.co
m

Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 229 30



28

This property was the last 
ad on to the Hawthorne 
redevelopment. This 
property was guaranteed 
to be market rate as the 
first 300 were already 
subsidized. This was the 
concession already. So 
going back on that is not 
appropriate. Sharon Forman sharonforman@gmail.com

29

For the record, can you 
please confirm that 
Benchmark Construction 
is the proposed 
developer? Tim Fisher 

timothycfisher@gmail.co
m

30

From our understanding 
the area medium income 
for Hawthorne 19147 is 
$88k. At 60% that would 
be around AGI of $53k 
with. 30% used for 
housing costs. Is this 
affordable? 

There are 6 old growth 
trees on the land: 4 
maple, one black locust 
and 1 foxglove empress. Turtlebug play@turtlebug.org

31

I live acroiss the street 
from this. I heard the 
trash will be kept and 
collected on kater (right 
in front of our house) and 
there's no parking. Also 
we've had so much 
construction lately it's 
disrupting quality of life. 
The Lot harms no one 
sitting there. Big trees, 
nice random green space. 
We (my wife and two 
kids) are against this. 
Could cause us to move. ebalchunas ebalchunas@gmail.com

Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 230 

31



32

13th and bainbridge the 
public parklet; is it for the 
public or residents? where 
is it located and access 
point? -allison a weiss/SoLo awfromhh5@gmail.com

33 AMI is $88k Turtlebug play@turtlebug.org

34

can developer arrange for 
inside storage of trash? 
inside storage of trash 
should be required 
citywide -allison a weiss/SoLo awfromhh5@gmail.com

35

from Michelle perrry; the 
trees their describing are 
actually weed trees. there 
was 4 stores along the 
strip back in 1970 thru 
1987 Colleen Puckett 

colleenpuckett@yahoo.co
m

36

from Michelle Perry: try 
crying when you cant 
afford to live in your 
home Colleen Puckett 

colleenpuckett@yahoo.co
m

37

46 unit building is still 
going to generate 
significant food waste.  
I'm not sure how that 
would be less than a 
single restaurant Michael Wilkins mikewilkinsjr@gmail.com

38
the lot was not part of the 
tower Michael Wilkins mikewilkinsjr@gmail.com

Board Meeting of December 8, 2021
Volume 67 - Page 23132



39

Ann Doley, 40 year
Germantown homeowner, 
member of Friends for the 
Restoration of the YWCA 
Building. We had a public 
& livestream meeting last 
night with 100- 150 
people attending to 
discuss a vision & 
process for moving 
forward now that 
developer KBK’s contract 
is terminated.  The 
meeting was destroyed as 
Rep. Bass brought a score 
of people who disrupted it 
& threatened many 
members of our group 
with bodily harm. People 
were terrified, afraid to 
walk home.  These thugs 
said they were asked to 
attend by Rep. Bass & 
warned never to go 
against her again. One of 
her staff even made 
violent threats. The 
meeting deterioated, 
people left, PRA was 
made to look like a racist Ann Doley adthyme@aol.com

40

is there any data to back 
up the claim that cars 
won't be added? Michael Wilkins mikewilkinsjr@gmail.com

41

Can Henry Sullivan speak 
to parks and open spaces. 
There are 6 trees with a 
long history. The MLK 
building was adjacent to 
the parcel. 

This is not affordable 
housing. Turtlebug play@turtlebug.org

Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 232 

33



42

There are 109 
homeowners in MLK 
Plaza HOA, many of 
whom are still the 
original homeowner from 
the 2006 PHA nationally 
recognized project; not 
one original homeowner 
in our HOA could pay 
$1600 rent for a unit in 
this proposed 
development.  
Additionally, no original 
homeowners are making 
anywhere close to 
$90,000 annual salary 
here. Tim Fisher 

timothycfisher@gmail.co
m

43
Can Henry Sullivan speak 
about the Park-let? Turtlebug play@turtlebug.org

44

wouldnt it be better for 
the developer to go in 
with community support ? a weiss/SoLo awfromhh5@gmail.com

45

We have shared the 
Turtlebug petition with 
the developer a few times. 
1370! Turtlebug play@turtlebug.org

46
1370 signatures for 
preservation! Turtlebug play@turtlebug.org

47

This is not affordable, 
65% of the units will be 
fair market rent! 35% is 
so small and at 60% AMI 
is not affordable! Rent 
costs and AMI will also 
increase in the next few 
years! Turtlebug play@turtlebug.org

48

Michelle Perry here: how 
will we be notified of 
opportunities to engage 
with the developer (Kater 
St. project)—will you 
email us, call us? Colleen Puckett 

colleenpuckett@yahoo.co
m

34



49

Ken, Can you please 
reach out to Turtlebug? 
Turtlebug.org change.org/ 
fortheloveofturtlebug
215.687.1212
Play@turtlebug.org Turtlebug play@turtlebug.org

50

Thank you everyone! 
Good outcome—Michelle 
Perry and Colleen Puckett Colleen Puckett 

colleenpuckett@yahoo.co
m

51
Thank you Turtle Bug .  
will do Kenn Penn kpenn@benchmarkcg.net

Board Meeting of December 8, 2021
Volume 67 - Page 233 

35



Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 234 

36



Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 23537



Board Meeting of December 8, 2021
Volume 67 - Page 236 

38



Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 23739



Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 238 40



Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 239 

41



Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 240

42



Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 24143



Board Meeting of December 8, 2021
Volume 67 - Page 242  

44



Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 243 45



Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 244 46



Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 24547



Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 24648



Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 247 49



Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 248 50



BOARD FACTSHEET  
Meeting of  December  8 ,  2021  
Approval  of  Contract  Amendment  to  Management  and Leas ing 
Agreement 
DHC Management ,  LLC 
Lower  Germantown Property  Portfo l io 

NAT URE OF T RANS ACT I ON:  

The  appro va l  o f  Contract  Amendment  in  an  am o unt  not  to  exceed F i f ty  
Tho usand D o l lars  ($5 0 ,0 00 )  to  the Managem ent  and Leas ing  Agreem ent  
( "Agreement" )  between the P hi ladelphia  Redev e lo pment  Autho r ity  
( "Author ity ")  and D HC Managem ent ,  LLC  ( "DHCM LLC" )  to  co m plete 
m aintenance  repa i rs  to  o ccupied pro pert ies  ident i f ied  o n Exhib i t  "A" ,  
a t tached hereto ,  w i th in  the  Lower Germantown P ro perty  Po rt fo l io  
( co l lect ive ly ,  the "Propert ies" ) .  

BACKGROUND: 

In  August ,  20 20 ,  the  P hi lade lphia  Ho us ing  D ev e lo pment  Co rpo rat io n,  o n  
beha l f  o f  the  Autho r ity ,  i s sued a  Request  fo r  P ro po sa ls  to  ident i fy  a  pro perty  
m anagem ent f i rm  to  pro v ide  pro perty  m anagement serv ices  fo r  the  
P ro pert ies .  The  P ro pert ies  ex i s t  in  v ar io us  s tages  o f  d i s repa i r  and co ns is t  o f  
fo r ty - f iv e  (45)  bu i ld ings  co nta in ing  approx im ate ly  o ne  hundred fo rty  (140)  
un i t s  tota l .   

Pursuant  to  Reso lut io n  No .  2021 -07 ,  ado pted o n February  10 ,  2021 ,  the  
Autho r i ty  Bo ard  autho r ized a  Management  and Leas ing  Agreem ent  wi th 
D HCM LLC  fo r  the  m anagem ent ,  leas ing,  o perat ing ,  m ainta in ing  land,  and  
im prov em ents  to  the  Pro pert ies .   Th is  agreem ent was executed March 4 ,  
2021 ,  fo r  a  term  o f  o ne  (1)  year  at  a  com pensat io n  no t  to  exceed One 
Hundred Fo rty -F iv e Tho usand Three  Hundred Ninety -Nine Do l lars  ($145 ,399) .  
D HCM LLC  has  co m pleted v ar io us  m aintenance  wo rk acro ss  the  P ro pert ies .  
Ho wev er,  there  are  further  m aintenance repa i rs  that  m ust  be  addressed 
befo re o bta in ing  renta l  l i censes  and leases  fo r  o ccupied uni t s .   

In  o rder  to  com plete  the repa i rs  ident i f ied,  author izat io n is  so ught  to  
increase  the  com pensat io n  am o unt  by  an  addi t io na l  F i f ty  Thousand D o l lars  
($50 ,000) .  

Item I (a)

Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 249 51



FUNDING:  

The  pro posed am endm ent  com pensat ion  increase  wi l l  be funded with  
Autho r i ty ' s  wo rk ing  capi ta l .  

P ro po sed reso lut io n and suppo rt ing  pro ject  exh ib i t  are  at tached.  

Prepared by :   V ic to r ia  Enge ls tad 
Rev iewed by :  Ryan Harm o n  

Item I (a)

Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 250 

52



BOARD FACTSHEET  
Meeting of  December  8 ,  2021 
Conveyance of  Ti t le  of  C i ty  Propert ies  through Phi ladelphia 
Redevelopment  Author i ty to Phi ladelphia  Land Bank 

Nature of  Transaction:  The Phi ladelphia  Redevelopment Author i ty ("PRA")  
wi l l  fac i l i tate  the conveyance of  t it le  of  propert ies  owned by the Ci ty of 
Ph i ladelphia  ("Ci ty")  to  the Phi ladelphia  Land Bank ("Land Bank") .  

• The conveyance of  these propert ies  wi l l  be  for the disposit ion,  reuse,
and management  by the Land Bank.

• The City propert ies  l i s ted  below were approved for  the conveyance to
the Land Bank in  col laborat ion with  the 2 n d  Counci l  D ist r ict  and the 3r d

Counci l  D ist r ict .

PROPERTY INFORMATION: 

The City  propert ies at tached hereto as Exh ib it  "A"  wi l l  be conveyed to  the 
Land Bank without considerat ion  through the PRA,  pursuant to Sect ion 2109 
of  the Land Bank Act ,  68  Pa.  C.S .A.  §2109(d)(3) ,  and Chapter  16-700 of  The 
Phi ladelphia  Code. 

Prepared by:  Cr ist ina  Mart inez 
Reviewed by:  Jess ie  Lawrence 

Item I (b)

Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 251 

53



EXHIBIT "A" 

2nd Council District Properties 

1306 S 21st Street 
1308 S 21st Street 
1310 S 21st Street 
1312 S 21st Street 
1329 S 21st Street 
1303 S 23rd Street 
1210 S 27th Street 
1212 S 27th Street 
1214 S 27th Street 
1306 S 28th Street 
1213 S Bonsall Street 
1148 S Cleveland Street 
2632 Ellsworth Street 
1410 S Hicks Street 
2054 Gerrit Street 
2612 Latona Street 
2741 Latona Street 
2743 Latona Street 
2123 Montrose Street 
1701 S Ringgold Street 
1703 S Ringgold Street 
1714 S Taylor Street 

3rd Council District Properties 

5139 Delancey Street 

Item I (b)

Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 252 54



BOARD FACTSHEET  
Meeting of  December  8 ,  2021 
Conveyance of  PRA Property  to  Phi ladelphia  Land Bank 

Nature of  Transaction:  The Phi ladelphia Redevelopment Author i ty ( the "PRA")  
wi l l  fac i l i tate the conveyance of  t it le  of  th is  property  owned by the PRA to  the 
Phi ladelphia  Land Bank:   

• The conveyance of  th is  property  wi l l  be for the d isposi t ion,  reuse,  and
management by the Phi ladelphia  Land Bank.

• The PRA property  l i s ted below was approved for conveyance to the
Phi ladelphia  Land Bank in  co l laborat ion  with  the 5t h  Co unci l  D ist r ict
Off ice .

PROPERTY INFORMATION: 

PRA Conveyance:   The PRA property  attached hereto as  Exhib i t  "A" wi l l  
be  conveyed to  the Phi ladelphia Land Bank  without  considerat ion,  
pursuant to  Sect ion 2109 of  Land Bank Act ,  68 Pa.  C.S .A.  §  2109(d)(3) .  

Item I (c)

Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 253 

55



EXHIBIT "A" 

5 t h  Counc i l  Di s tr ic t  

1517  N.  33 r d  S t reet  

Item I (c)

Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 254 56



BOARD FACTSHEET  
Meeting of  December  8 ,  2021 
Cooperat ion Agreement  
The City  of  Ph i ladelphia ,  act ing through i ts  Water Department 

NAME OF APPLICANT /REQUEST OR:    THE C ITY  OF  P HILAD ELP HIA (the  "Ci ty " ) ,  
ACT ING THROUGH ITS WATER DEPARTMENT ( the  "Water  Department" )  

Nature  of  Transac t ion:   Appro va l  o f  a  Co o perat io n  Agreement  (here in ,  the 
"Cooperat ion Agreement" )  between the P hi lade lphia  Redev e lo pment  Autho r i ty  
( the  "Author i ty " )  and the  C i ty ,  act ing  through the  Water  D epartm ent .  

Bac kg round:   The  C i ty  appro pr iates  certa in  capi ta l  funding  ( the "City  Funding")  
to  be  granted to  the  Autho r i ty  thro ugh v ar io us  grant  and subgrant  agreem ents 
fo r  use  in  co nst ruct io n  and im pro vement pro jects  in  and around the  C i ty  o n 
pro pert ies  o wned by  the  C i ty  (each,  a  "Ci ty  Proj ect , "  and co l lect iv e ly ,  the  "City  
Proj ects") ,  inc luding  tho se pro jects  ar i s ing  o ut  of  the  C ity ' s  "Rebui ld ing 
Com m unity  Inf rast ructure"  o r  "Rebui ld"  P ro gram .   The  Autho r i ty  acts  as  agent 
fo r  the  C i ty  in  carry ing  o ut  the  C ity  P ro jects  and the  C i ty  grants  the  C ity  
Funding  to  Autho r i ty  in  acco rdance wi th ind iv idua l  pro ject  requi rem ents .   The 
Autho r i ty  m anages and ov ersees the C i ty  P ro jects  and uses  the C i ty  Funding  to  
pay  fo r  the  C i ty  P ro jects .  

The  Autho r i ty  a l so  m anages  and/o r  o versees  certa in  co nst ruct io n  and 
im prov em ent  pro jects  in  and aro und the  C i ty  o n pro pert ies  owned by  the 
Autho r i ty  (each,  an  "Author i ty  Proj ec t , "  and co l lect iv e ly ,  the  "Authori ty  
Proj ects") .   The  Autho r i ty  typ ica l ly  uses  i ts  o wn capita l  funding  o r  funding  f ro m 
o ther  so urces  to  pay  fo r  the Autho r i ty  P ro jects .   The C i ty  P ro jects  and the 
Autho r i ty  P ro jects  sha l l  be re ferred to  here in ,  co l lect ive ly ,  as  the 
"Construc t ion Proj ects . "  

The  C i ty ,  act ing  thro ugh the  Water  Departm ent ,  has  requested that  the  
Autho r i ty  inc lude Water  D epartment- ident i f ied  green s to rm water  
inf rast ructure pro jects  ("S tormw ater  I nfrastruc ture" )  in  certain  Co nstruct io n 
P ro jects  such that  the  Autho r ity  wi l l  pro v ide  owner 's  representat iv e serv ices  to  
inco rpo rate  the  Sto rm water  Inf rast ructure  into  tho se  Co nstruct io n  P ro jects  
f ro m the des ign  phase  to  co nst ruct io n  com plet io n  in  an  e f f i c ient  m anner .  

The  C ity ,  act ing through the  Water  D epartm ent ,  des i res  to  coo perate  wi th  the 
Autho r i ty  in  acco rdance  wi th  Sect io n  8 -402  o f  the  P hi lade lphia  Ho m e Rule  
Charter  and Sect io n  1746 .1  o f  the  Redev elo pment  Coo perat io n Law,  35 P .S .  §§ 
1741 et  seq.  The  C i ty ,  act ing thro ugh the Water  D epartm ent,  has  agreed to  pay 

Item I (d)

Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 255 

57



fo r  a l l  co sts  and expenses  incurred in  connect io n  wi th  the  Serv ices  (def ined 
be lo w) .  

COOPERATI ON AG REEMENT SERVICES:  

The  Autho r i ty  wi l l  per fo rm  the  fo l lowing  serv ices  (co l lect iv e ly ,  the  "S erv ic es")  
as  agent  fo r  the  Water  D epartment  under  the  Coo perat io n  Agreem ent:  

a . Pre-Co nstruct io n.   The  Autho r ity  wi l l :

i . D eterm ine ,  w i th  the  ass i s tance  o f  the  Water  D epartment ,
appro pr iate  Co nstruct io n  P ro jects  that  are  ab le  and appro pr iate  to  incorpo rate 
Sto rm water  Inf rast ructure ;  

i i . Rev iew and ev a luate pro ject  sco pe  and wo rk  wi th  the
Ci ty  and the  Water  Department ,  as  appl i cab le ,  to  assem ble and prepare  pro ject  
drawings ,  p lans  and spec i f i cat io ns  to  be  pro v ided and inc luded wi th  the  b id 
o ppo rtuni ty ;  

i i i .   Com m unicate  with  the  Water  D epartm ent 's  
pro ject/ co nst ruct io n  m anager  dur ing  des ign  pro cess ;  

i v . D iscuss  and determ ine  ro les  o f  a l l  appl i cable  agenc ies ;

v . Request  eco nom ic  oppo rtuni ty  go a ls  f rom  the  Mayo r 's
Of f i ce  o f  Eco nom ic  Oppo rtuni ty  o r  partner  C i ty  agency  and requi re  com pl iance 
f ro m se lected co ntracto r;  

v i . Es tab l i sh  co rrect  prev a i l ing  wage  rates  and no t i fy  Off i ce
o f  Labo r  Standards ;  

v i i . D ev e lo p a  b id  package  that  separates  Water  D epartment -
funded i tems  f ro m other  pro ject  i tem s;  

v i i i . Ensure  b id package av a i lab i l i ty  and schedule  b id  pro cess
with  a l l  appl i cab le  part ies ;  

i x . P ubl i c ly  adv ert ise  b id o ppo rtuni ty ;

x . Co nduct  pre -b id  m eet ing  and reco rd  and com m unicate
with  pre-b id  m eet ing  at tendees ;  

x i . Request  quest io ns  and c lar i f i cat io ns  fro m potent ia l
b idders  and prov ide  respo nses  f ro m the Water  D epartment  wi thin  the  spec i f ied 
t im e f ram e;  

Item I (d)

Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 256 58



x i i . Rece iv e ,  co o rd inate ,  and inc lude  the  Water  Departm ent
in  a l l  b id  ev a luat io n  and se lect io n  fo r  Co nstruct io n  P rojects  in  which 
Sto rm water  Inf rast ructure  i s  pro posed to  be  inco rpo rated;  

x i i i . With  coo perat io n  f ro m  the  Water  Departm ent ,  se lect
m ost  qua l i f ied  b idder;  

x iv .  Po st  ident i ty  o f  a l l  b idders  fo r  Co nstruct io n  P ro jects  in  
which  Sto rm water  Inf rast ructure  i s  pro posed to  be  inco rpo rated and ident i fy  
the  se lected b idder ;  

xv . Prepare and enter  into  a  co nstruct io n contract  w i th the
se lected b idder  (as  owner  i f  an Autho r ity  P ro ject  o r  as  agent  fo r  the  C i ty  i f  a  
C i ty  P ro ject )  and i ssue  any  requi red  Water  D epartm ent  addendum s to 
co nst ruct io n  co ntracts ;  

xv i . Request  100% perfo rm ance  and payment  bo nds  and name
the  C i ty  as  endo rsed addi t io na l  insured;  and 

xv i i . I s sue  a  no t ice  to  proceed.

b. Pro ject  Co nst ruct io n.  The  Autho r i ty  wi l l :

i . Co o rd inate  pre-co nst ruct io n  m eet ing  with  the  Water
D epartm ent  o n-s i te  a lo ng  wi th  co ntracto r ,  co nsul tants ,  and pro ject  partners ;  

i i . Co o rdinate  co nst ruct io n  schedule  wi th  the  Water
D epartm ent  and ho st  k ick -o f f  m eet ing  wi th  the  Water  D epartment 's  
Co nstruct io n  Uni t ;  

i i i . Co o rd inate  co ntracto r  subm it ta ls  and o bta in  des ign
appro v a ls  f rom the  Water  Department  re lat ive  to  the  Sto rmwater  
Inf rast ructure ;  

i v .  Co o rd inate  wi th  contracto r  to  o bta in a l l  appl i cab le  
perm its ;  

v . With  o vers ight  f rom , and invo lv em ent with ,  the Water
D epartm ent ,  co o rd inate  and m o ni to r  co nst ruct io n  act iv i t ies  and a l l  
co ntracto rs ;  

v i . Co nduct  per io dic  co nst ruct io n  s i te  o bserv at io ns  and
m ainta in  pro ject  pro gress  o vers ight  with  the  Water  D epartment ;  

v i i . Com m unicate  wi th  the  C i ty  and the  Water  D epartm ent  as
needed regard ing  the Co nstruct io n  P ro ject ;  

v i i i . Co o rd inate  wi th  a l l  stakeho lders  as  needed;

Item I (d)

Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 25759



i x . Schedule  and co nduct  co nst ruct io n m eet ings  and subm it
m eet ing  notes  to  the  Water  Departm ent  and coo rd inate  act io n  as  necessary;  

x . Co o rd inate  a  system  fo r  the  rev iew and pro cess  o f
change  o rders  with  the  Water  D epartm ent  and co ntracto r ;  

x i . Co o rdinate  requests  fo r  paym ent  as  prepared by  the
co ntracto r  and request  approv a l  and payment  f ro m the  Water  Department ;  

x i i . P rocess  Water  Department-approv ed payments  in  a
t im ely  m anner;  

x i i i . Co o rd inate  punch l i s t  wa lk - thro ugh with  co ntracto rs  and
the  Water  D epartment  and co nduct  pro ject  c lo seo ut;  

x iv . Ensure  that  the  co ntracto r  pro v ides  to  the  Water
Departm ent  a l l  required  post -co nst ruct ion  do cum entat io n and pro ject  reco rds 
upo n pro ject  com plet io n;  and  

xv . Per fo rm  such o ther  serv ices  which  m ay becom e
necessary  o r  are  requested upo n the  m utua l  agreement  o f  the C i ty ,  the  Water  
D epartm ent  and the Autho r i ty .  

COMMENT S OR OT HER CONDI TI ONS : 

The  Water  Departm ent  sha l l  pay  an  adm inis t rat ive  fee  to  the  Autho r i ty  fo r  i t s  
Serv ices  in  an am o unt  equa l  to  sev en percent  (7 .00%) o f  the Costs  incurred by  
the  Autho r i ty  pursuant  to  the  Co o perat ion  Agreement  ( "Adm inis t rat ive  Fee") .  
"Co sts"  sha l l  inc lude a l l  d i rect  co sts  and a l l  o ther  expendi tures  which  are  
actua l ly  incurred.    

The  Coo perat io n Agreem ent has  a  term o f  o ne  (1 )  year  which m ay be extended 
fo r  three  (3 )  addi t io na l  o ne  (1 )  year  per io ds .  

In  no  event  sha l l  the  amo unt  cert i f ied  by  the  C i ty ' s  F inance  D epartment  fo r  the 
payment  o f  Co sts  and the  Adm inis t rat ive  Fee  dur ing  the  term  (o r  any renewal  
term)  o f  the  Coo perat io n  Agreem ent exceed the  m ax im um  amo unt  o f  One 
Mi l l io n  D o l lars  ($1 ,0 00 ,00 0) .  

P ro po sed Reso lut io n  at tached.  

Prepared By:   Ryan Harm o n 

Item I (d)

Board Meeting of December 8, 2021
Volume 67 - Page 258 60



BOARD FACTSHEET  
Meeting of  December  8 ,  2021 
Select ion  of  Redeveloper 
2236 E .  Wi l l iam Street  

NAME OF DEVELOPER/ APPLICANT :  Alm a Xhepaj  

Nature  of  Transac t ion:  Se lect io n o f  A lm a Xhepaj  ( "Redev e lo per" )  pro po s ing  to  
dev e lo p 2236  E .  Wi l l iam St reet  ( the "P ro perty" )  into  an  o pen space/ garden area .  

Leg al  Ent i ty / Other  Partners  ( i f  appl i c able) :   A lm a Xhepaj  

Mai l ing  Address :  2 240  E .  Wi l l iam  St reet ,  P h i lade lphia ,  P A 19134 

PROPERT Y INFORMATI ON:   2236  E .  Wi l l iam St reet  

Descr ipt ion:   809  SF ,  v acant  lo t    Zoning :  RSA-5    Use:   o pen space/ garden area 

Disposi t i on Pr ic e:   $10 ,500 

This  P ro perty  was won thro ugh a  com pet i t iv e  b id  and Redev e lo per  subm itted the 
o nly  qua l i f ied  b id .   

FINANCING : 

Redeve lo per  has  pro vided do cum entat io n  of  av a i lab le  funds o r  reaso nable  ab i l i ty  
to  o bta in  necessary  funds  in  an  amo unt  no less  than tota l  pro ject  co sts .  

COMMENT S OR OT HER CONDI TI ONS : 

Redeve lo per  i s  compl iant  wi th  the  C i ty  o f  P h i lade lphia  ( "C i ty")  Rev enue 
D epartm ent  and has  no  o utstanding  tax  o bl igat io ns ,  co nf l i ct s  o f  interest ,  o r  
unreso lved C i ty  L&I  Co de  v io lat io ns .  P er  Chapter  17 -1600  o f  the  P hi lade lphia  
Co de,  an Eco nom ic Oppo rtuni ty  P lan  i s  not  requi red fo r  th i s  pro ject  as  i t  i s  for  
o pen space/ garden area .  

P repared by :  Br ian  Rom ano 
Rev iewed by :  Jess ie  Lawrence 

Item II (a)

Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 259 

61



BOARD FACTSHEET  
Meeting of  December  8 ,  2021 
Select ion  of  Redeveloper 
2238 E .  Wi l l iam Street  

NAME OF DEVELOPER/ APPLICANT :  Alm a Xhepaj  

Nature  of  Transac t ion:  Se lect io n o f  A lm a Xhepaj  ( "Redev e lo per" )  pro po s ing  to  
dev e lo p 2238  E .  Wi l l iam  St reet  ( the "P ro perty")  into  a  s ide  yard.   

Legal  Ent i ty / Other  Partners  ( i f  appl i c able) :   A lm a Xhepaj  

Mai l ing  Address :  2 240  E .  Wi l l iam  St reet ,  P h i lade lphia ,  P A 19134 

PROPERTI ES  INFORMATI ON:   2238  E .  Wi l l iam  St reet  

Descr ipt ion:   812  SF ,  v acant  lo t    Zoning :  RSA-5    Use:   s ide  yard 

Disposi t i on Pr ic e:   $35 ,000 

This  Pro perty  qua l i f ies  under  the  C i ty  o f  P h i lade lphia 's  Land Dispo s i t io n  Po l i cy  
fo r  s ide  yards .  The  P ro perty  t ransfer  wi l l  inc lude  a  purchase  mo ney  mo rtgage fo r  
th i r ty  (30)  years  in  the  am o unt  o f  the  d ispo s i t io n  pr ice .  

FINANCING : 

Redeve lo per  has  pro vided do cum entat io n  of  av a i lab le  funds o r  reaso nable  ab i l i ty  
to  o bta in  necessary  funds  in  an  amo unt  no less  than tota l  pro ject  co sts .  

COMMENT S OR OT HER CONDI TI ONS : 

Redeve lo per  i s  compl iant  wi th the C i ty  Rev enue D epartm ent  and has  no 
o utstanding  tax  o bl igat io ns ,  co nf l i ct s  o f  interest ,  o r  unreso lv ed C i ty  L&I  Co de 
v io lat io ns .  P er  Chapter  17-1600  o f  the  P hi lade lphia  Co de,  an  Eco nom ic 
Oppo rtuni ty  P lan  i s  no t  requi red fo r  th i s  pro ject  as  i t  i s  fo r  o pen space/ garden 
area .  

P repared by :  Br ian  Rom ano 
Rev iewed by :  Jess ie  Lawrence 

Item II (b)

Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 260 

62



BOARD FACTSHEET  
Meeting of  December  8 ,  2021 
Cert i f icate  of  Complet ion 
2848 B Street  

NAME OF DEVELOPER/ APPLICANT :  P ro v idenc ia  Rom ero  ( "Redeve lo per" )  

NAT URE OF TRANSACTI ON:   The  Bo ard i s  asked to  author ize  a  Reso lut io n  
autho r iz ing  the  i ssuance  o f  a  Cert i f i cate  o f  Com plet io n  fo r  2848  B  St reet  ( the 
"P ro perty" ) .   

BACKGROUND: The Phi lade lphia  Redev e lopm ent Autho r ity  ( "Autho r i ty" )  co nv eyed 
the  pro perty ,  by  deed,  to  Redev e lo per  in  March,  1989 .  Redev e lo per  then rehabbed 
and o ccupied the  Pro perty  unt i l  she  so ld  i t  in  January ,  2001 .  The  Pro perty  has  
been so ld  twice  s ince 2 001 .  The  current  owner  i s  se l l ing  the  Pro perty  and the t i t le  
com pany  i s  request ing  that  a  Cert i f i cate  o f  Com plet io n be i ssued.  

The  r ight  to  rev ert  is  t ied to  the  res ident ia l  use requi rem ent  and s ince they are  
lo ok ing  to  have  the r ight  to  revert  remov ed,  we  are seek ing  bo ard approv a l  to  
remo ve  that  res ident ia l  use  requi rement  and re lease the  r ight  to  rev ert .   

The  t i t le  com pany  has  been made  aware  that  the  fo l lowing rest r i c t io ns  wi l l  not  be 
re leased:  

1 . That  no  perso n sha l l  be  depr iv ed o f  the  r ight  to  l i ve  in  the  P rem ises  or
to  use  any o f  the fac i l i t ies  there in ,  by  reaso n o f  race ,  c reed,  co lo r  o r
nat io na l  o r ig in .

2 . That  there  sha l l  be  no  d iscr im inat io n  in  the  use ,  sa le  o r  lease  of  any  part
o f  the  Pro ject  aga inst  any perso n because  o f  race ,  co lo r ,  re l ig io n  o r
nat io na l  o r ig in .

Pro po sed Reso lut io n and suppo rt ing  inf o rmat io n are  at tached ( s i te  m ap and 
pho to graphs) .   

P repared by :  Br ian  Rom ano 
Rev iewed by :  Jess ie  Lawrence  

Item II (c)

Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 261 

63



BOARD FACTSHEET  
Meeting of  December  8 ,  2021 
Select ion  of  Redeveloper through a Redevelopment Agreement 
and Ground Lease Agreement 
614-26 S .  13t h  Street  inc luding 1306-10 Kater  Street  and 1309-
13 Bainbr idge Street

NAME OF DEVELOPER/ APPLICANT :  624  S .  13TH STREET L .L .C .  

Nature  of  Transac t ion:  Se lect io n  o f  624  S .  13TH STREET  L .L .C .  ("Redev eloper" ) ,  
as  redev e lo per ,  pro po s ing  to  dev e lo p the pro perty  lo cated at  614 -26  S .  13th 
St reet ,  inc luding  1306 -10  Kater  St reet  and 1309-13  Ba inbr idge  St reet  
( co l lect ive ly ,  the  "Premises" ) ,  as  a  three  (3)  s to ry  bui ld ing ,  to ta l ing  33 ,000  gro ss  
square  feet ,  which  wi l l  inc lude  fo rty - f iv e  (45)  apartments  –  the  current  uni t  m ix  
be ing  twelv e (1 2)  s tudio  uni t s ,  twenty- f iv e  (25)  o ne bedro om uni ts ,  and e ight  (8)  
two bedroom  uni ts  ( the  "Proj ec t" ) .   

Redeve lo per  sha l l  cont inuo us ly  use  the  P rem ises  fo r  purpo ses o f  co nst ruct ing ,  
o perat ing  and m ainta in ing  the  P ro ject ,  o f  which  a  m in im um  o f  th ir ty - f ive  percent  
(35%) o f  the  tota l  un it  co unt  ( the "Affordable  Units" )  sha l l  be leased to  Qual i f ied 
Subtenants  (as  def ined be low) at  U.S .  Departm ent  o f  Hous ing  and Urban 
D ev e lo pment  ( "HUD" )  "Fa i r  Market  Rents"  fo r  the  19147  z ip  co de  in  P hi lade lphia ,  
P ennsy lv ania ,  and the uni t  s i ze  in  quest io n,  ca lcu lated in acco rdance  wi th  HUD 's  
"Fa i r  Market  Rent  Calcu lat io n  Metho do lo gy"  and publ i shed by  HUD  each year .   
"Qual i f ied  S ubtenant"  sha l l  mean a  pro spect iv e subtenant  o f  an  Af fo rdable  Uni t  
fo r  whom  the annual  HUD  Fa i r  Market  Rent  fo r  the  19147  z ip  co de  in 
P hi lade lphia ,  P ennsylv ania  fo r  the  uni t  s i ze  in  quest io n,  is  between th i r ty 
percent  (30%) and th ir ty - f ive  (35%)  o f  the ir  annual  gro ss  income.  

In  addi t io n  to  the apartment  bui ld ing ,  R edev e lo per expects  to  use  a  po rt io n o f 
the  o pen area  requi red by  the  zo ning  co de  to  co nst ruct  a  publ i c  park let  a lo ng 
13th St reet .  The P ro ject  w i l l  a l so  hav e b ike  s torage ,  a  package  ro om , a  green 
ro o f  that  wi l l  a id  in  the  C i ty  of  P h i lade lphia 's  ( the  "Ci ty" )  e f fo rt  to  e f fect iv e ly  
m anage s to rm  water,  and a  ro o f  deck  fo r  a l l  res idents .  The P ro ject  w i l l  be 
serv iced by  an  e levato r  and a l l  the  apartments  wi l l  be  o ut f i t ted  wi th  a  
washer/ dryer ,  s ta in less  s tee l  appl iances ,  sto ne  co unter  to ps  and o ther  f in i shes 
co ns is tent  wi th  m arket  rate  dev e lo pments  in  the  imm ediate  v ic in i ty .   

To  e f fectuate  co nstruct io n  o f  the  P ro ject  and in  an  e f fort  to  m ainta in 
a f fo rdabi l i ty  fo r  a  s ign i f i cant  per io d  of  t ime,  P h i lade lphia  Redev e lo pment 
Autho r i ty  ( "Author i ty " )  s ta f f  and Redeve lo per have  nego t iated a  pro po sed 
Gro und Lease Agreem ent ( "Ground Lease" )  where in  Redev e lo per  wi l l  lease  the 
P rem ises  f rom  the  Autho r i ty  fo r  a  term  of  n inety-n ine  (99)  years .   D ur ing  the 
ent i rety  o f  the  term  of  the pro po sed Gro und Lease ,  Redev e lo per wi l l  be requi red 
to  m ainta in  the  a f fo rdabi l i ty  requi rem ents  as  set  fo rth  abo ve.  

Item II (d)TABLED

Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 26264



Spec i f i ca l ly ,  Author i ty  s ta f f  seeks  Bo ard  approv a l  o f  ( i )  a  Redeve lo pm ent 
Agreement  between the  Autho r i ty  and Redev e lo per  set t ing  fo rth  the 
dev e lo pment  o bl igat io ns  re lat iv e  to  the  Pro ject ,  and ( i i )  the  Gro und Lease  for  
the  P rem ises  between the  Autho r i ty ,  as  landlo rd,  and Redeve lo per ,  as  tenant ,  
pro v id ing  fo r  the  use ,  o perat io n  and m aintenance  o f  the P rem ises  and 
m aintenance  o f  the  P ro ject  to  be  co nst ructed pursuant  to  the Redeve lo pm ent 
Agreement .  

The fol lowing is  a summary of the material  terms of the proposed Redevelopment 
Agreement and proposed Ground Lease :  

 Term: The term of the proposed Ground Lease is  ninety-nine (99) years  
commencing on the Sett lement Date.  

Rent:  During the f i rst  year of the Term, the "Fixed Minimum Rent" shal l  be in  
the annual amount of  Thirty Thousand Dollars ($30,000),  and payable in monthly  
instal lments of Two Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($2,500).   Thereafter,  beginning 
with the second (2nd) year of the Term, the Fixed Minimum Rent shal l  be adjusted 
annual ly  by two and eighteen hundredths percent (2.18%) above the Fixed Minimum 
Rent from the pr ior  year for each subsequent year throughout the Term. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing,  within ninety (90) days fol lowing the issuance of a 
Certif icate of Occupancy for the Premises,  Redeveloper shal l  provide to the 
Authority and shall  cause each prime contractor to provide or submit to the 
Authority,  a  Project cost cert if ication performed by one or  more independent,  
third-party,  cert if ied public accountants establ ishing the actual  total  construct ion 
costs incurred and paid by Redeveloper  and each prime contractor in  connection 
with the construct ion of the Project.   In the event the Project cost cert if ication 
does not support the Fixed Minimum Rent  then payable by Redeveloper to the 
Authority,  the Authority may, in its  sole discretion and in accordance with the costs 
set forth in the Project cost cert if ication, increase the Fixed Minimum Rent  payable  
to the Authority on an annual  basis to an amount not to exceed Fifty Thousand 
Dollars ($50,000).   In  the event there is  an increase to the Fixed Minimum Rent  
amount fol lowing the submission of  the Project cost cert i f icat ion as outl ined above,  
the increased Fixed Minimum Rent shal l  continue to  be adjusted annually  by two 
and eighteen hundredths percent  (2.18%) above the Fixed Minimum Rent from the 
prior year for each subsequent year  throughout the Term. 

 Net Lease:  The proposed Ground Lease is  a "triple net lease," and the Authority 
is  not responsible for any costs,  expenses or  charges thereunder.  

 Non-Discrimination in Use or Construction of Premises:  The proposed Ground 
Lease inc ludes the same obligations as  included in the Authority 's  typical  
redevelopment agreement which require non-discr iminat ion in use and 
construct ion of the Project.  

 Minority,  Disadvantaged and Female Owned Business Enterprise Requirements.   
The proposed Redevelopment Agreement shal l  include the same obligations as 

Item II (d)TABLED

Board Meeting of December 8, 2021
Volume 67 - Page 263 65



included in the Authority's  typical  redevelopment agreement which encourage fair  
and non-discriminatory business and employment pract ices  and expanding 
opportunit ies for  minorit ies,  women and disadvantaged individuals.   P er  Chapter  
17-1600 o f  the  P hi lade lphia  Co de,  Redeve lo per wi l l  be requi red to  subm it  an
Eco no m ic  Oppo rtuni ty  P lan  ( "EOP ") .   P ro po sed EOP  go a l  ranges were subm itted
at  MBE –  40% and WBE –  1 0%.

 Redevelopment Commitment and Use:  Redeveloper commits to develop the 
Project and maintain the Premises,  including the Affordable Units,  for the durat ion 
of the Term.  As  required by  the proposed Redevelopment Agreement,  Redeveloper 
shal l  be required to submit plans,  show adequate evidence of funding for the 
Project,  provide a l ist  of al l  major executed contracts ,  obtain a l l  required permits  
and approvals,  provide adequate insurance for the Project ,  provide adequate 
f inancial  secur ity for the payment of  al l  contractors ,  promptly discharge a l l  l iens  
and provide as-built  p lans upon completion of the Project.    

 Fine Arts:  Redeveloper agrees to provide appropriate works of Fine Arts in  
accordance with The Percent for Art  Program in effect on the date of execution of  
the Redevelopment Agreement.  

 Insurance:  Redeveloper agrees to insure and to cause their respective 
contractors  and subtenants  to maintain the minimum insurance coverages as  
required by the Authority dur ing the term of the proposed Ground Lease and 
Redevelopment Agreement.  

Indemnification:  Redeveloper agrees to indemnify and defend the Authority,  the 
City and the Philadelphia Housing Development Corporat ion ("PHDC"),  and save 
each of them harmless from and against any and al l  c la ims, actions,  suits ,  
proceedings,  losses,  damages,  l iabi l it ies and expenses ar is ing during the term of 
the proposed Ground Lease and Redevelopment Agreement.  

 Sublett ing and Assignment:  Redeveloper is  prohibited from sublett ing or 
assigning any port ion of the Premises unless they satisfy an applicable minimum 
tangible net worth test as provided in the proposed Ground Lease.  Redeveloper  
may assign the proposed Ground Lease to a "Permitted Transferee" without the 
prior consent of the Authority provided that Redeveloper provides the Authority 
with notice of such assignment at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date 
thereof.   The term "Permitted Transferee" shal l  mean (a)  a Leasehold Mortgagee 
(as def ined in the Ground Lease);  or (b)  an ent ity that  (x)  owns, manages or has  
engaged a third party property manager that manages not less than one hundred 
f ifty (150) affordable rental  units in its  portfol io as of the effect ive date of the 
assignment;  and (y)  has,  together with its  aff i l iates,  a tangible net worth of at  least  
the "Appl icable Minimum Tangible Net Worth" as of the effective date of such 
assignment.  "Applicable Minimum Tangible Net Worth" means a  tangible  net  
worth of at  least F ifteen Mil l ion Dollars ($15,000,000.00).  

 Leasehold Mortgages:  Redeveloper may grant to certain parties (as l imited in 
the proposed Ground Lease) a mortgage l ien encumbering al l  or a portion of the 

Item II (d)TABLED

Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 264 

66



Premises.  

 Right of First  Refusal  Option:  If  and when either ( i )  the Authority issues a 
proposal  to a  prospective purchaser  that  is  or could be unrelated to the Authority 
and which is  not a public  or government agency or authority (or an entity owned, 
control led and/or managed by a publ ic or government agency or authority)  
("Unrelated Third Party"),  or ( i i )  the Authority receives a bona f ide offer or request  
for proposal  that the Authority is  wil l ing to  accept,  from a prospective purchaser 
that is  an Unrelated Third Party,  to purchase and sel l  the fee interest  in  the 
Premises,  Redeveloper  shal l  have the right of  f irst  refusal  to purchase the Premises  
(the "ROFR Option").  

 Secur ity Deposit:  Redeveloper is  required to pay to the Authority a security  
deposit  in the amount of Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000),  which has been paid prior  
to the date hereof.  Upon execution of the proposed Ground Lease, such deposit  wi l l  
become a "security  completion deposit ."   Upon issuance of  a Certif icate of  
Completion by the Authority this secur ity completion deposit  shal l  be repaid to 
Redeveloper.  

LEGAL  ENT IT Y/ OT HER PARTNERS  ( i f  appl i cable) :   

• Kenneth  P enn
• Henry  Su l l i v an
• P eter  P e lu l lo
• Sa l  Ja l i l v and
• E l l io t  O ’Ne i l l

Mai l ing  Address :  2 50 1  Wharto n St reet ,  2 n d  F lo o r ,  P h i lade lphia ,  P A 19146 

PROPERT Y INFORMATI ON:   614-26  S .  13 t h  S t reet  inc luding  1306 -10  Kater
St reet  and 1309-13  Ba inbr idge  St reet

This  parce l  was  adv ert i sed  thro ugh a  Request  fo r  P ro po sa ls  ( "RFP ")  

Descr ipt ion:   13,775  SF ,  v acant  lo t    Zoning :  RM-1    Use:   Res ident ia l  

FINANCING : 

Redeve lo per  has  pro vided do cum entat io n  of  av a i lab le  funds o r  reaso nable  ab i l i ty  
to  o bta in  necessary  funds  in  an  amo unt  no less  than tota l  P ro ject  co sts .  

Item II (d)TABLED

Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 265 

67



COMMENT S OR OT HER CONDI TI ONS : 

There  were  s ix  (6 )  pro po sa ls  subm it ted in  respo nse to  the  RFP  and Redev e lo per 
rece iv ed the  h ighest  sco re .   Redev e lo per i s  co m pl iant  wi th the  C i ty  Rev enue 
D epartm ent  and has  no  o utstanding  tax  o bl igat io ns ,  co nf l i ct s  o f  interest ,  o r  
unreso lved C i ty  L&I  Co de  v io lat io ns .  P er  Chapter  17-1600  o f  the  P hi lade lphia  
Co de,  the  Eco nom ic  Oppo rtuni ty  P lan  wi l l  apply .  F ine  Arts  w i l l  a lso  apply .   

P ro po sed Reso lut io n  and suppo rt ing  info rm at io n are at tached (s i te  m ap,  so urces  
and uses ,  pro po sed p lans  and pho to graphs) .  

P repared by :  Br ian  Rom ano 
Rev iewed by :  Jess ie  Lawrence 

Item II (d)TABLED

Board Meeting of December 8, 2021 
Volume 67 - Page 265 68



BOARD FACTSHEET  
Meeting of  January 12,  2022 
Appointment  of  the Board  of  D irectors  of  RT  HeadHouse 
Development  Corporat ion 

ENTITY: RT HeadHouse Development Corporation 

Nature of Transaction:  Authorizat ion to appoint the fol lowing f ive (5)  indiv iduals to  
serve on the board of directors of RT HeadHouse Development Corporation for a term 
of one (1)  year beginning February 10, 2022, or unt i l  the appointment is  terminated by 
the Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority ( the "Authority")  Board:  

Ryan Ambrose 
David Thomas 
Darren Wil l iams 
Alberta Benn 
Mathen Pullukattu 

PROJECT INFORMATION: 12 t h  and Market HeadHouse Condominium (Reading 
Terminal HeadHouse)  

Address:  1113-31 Market Street,  1113-A-31 Market Street and 1112-40 Fi lbert  
Street  

COMMENTS OR OTHER CONDITIONS: 

HeadHouse Retai l  Associates,  L .P.  ("HeadHouse Retai l") ,  a Pennsylvania  l imited 
partnership created by the Authority,  is  the owner of Units #2 and #3 in the 12t h  and 
Market HeadHouse Condominium. RT HeadHouse Development Corporation, of which 
the Authority is  the sole shareholder,  i s  the general  partner of HeadHouse Retai l  and 
is  responsible for  the overal l  management and control  of HeadHouse Retai l .   

Proposed Resolut ion is  attached.  

Item I (a)

1



RESOLUTION NO.  
 

RESOLUTION APPOINTING DIRECTORS TO RT HEADHOUSE DEVELOPMENT 
CORPORATION 
 

BE IT RESOLVED by the Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority, that the following 
individuals are appointed to serve as directors of RT HeadHouse Development Corporation for a 
term of one (1) year beginning February 10, 2022 or until such time as the Authority shall terminate 
any such appointment: 

 
    Ryan Ambrose  
    David Thomas  

Darren Williams 
Alberta Benn 
Mathen Pullukattu 

     
 FURTHER AUTHORIZING, the preparation, execution, and delivery of all 
documentation necessary to carry out the foregoing in form and substance acceptable to the Deputy 
Executive Director of Real Estate and General Counsel. 
 
 FURTHER AUTHORIZING, that the Deputy Executive Director of Real Estate, with 
the advice of General Counsel, may allow modifications to the Resolution necessary or desirable 
to carry out its purposes and intents. 
 
 
 

 

 

Item I (a)

2



 
 

BOARD FACTSHEET  
Meeting of  January 12,  2022 
Third Amendment to  Cooperat ion  Agreement  – Ci ty  of   
Ph i ladelphia ,  act ing through its  Department of  Publ ic  Property 
400 N.  Broad Street  
 

 
NAME OF DEVELOPER/APPLI CANT :     City  of  Phi lade lphia ,  act ing  thro ugh i t s  
D epartm ent  o f  P ubl i c  P ro perty  ( the  "Ci ty " )  
 

Nature  of  T ransac t ion:   Approv a l  o f  Th i rd  Am endm ent to  Co o perat io n 
Agreement between the  P hi lade lphia  Redev e lo pment  Autho r i ty  ( "PRA" )  and the 
C i ty  to  extend the  term  o f  the  Coo perat ion  Agreement ,  as  prev io us ly  am ended,  
fo r  an  addi t io na l  twe lv e  (12)  m o nths ,  e f fect iv e  as  o f  Octo ber  16 ,  2021 .  

 
 
BACKGROUND:  

 
The  pro pert ies  lo cated at  400 N.  Broad St reet  ( the  "Broad Street  Property " )  
and 1501  Ca l lo whi l l  St reet  ( the  "Cal low hi l l  St reet  Property " )  ( the  Bro ad St reet 
P arce l  and the Ca l lowhi l l  S t reet  P arce l ,  to gether,  the "Propert ies" )  are  be ing 
dev e lo ped by 400  North  Bro ad P artners ,  L .P .  ( "Landlord" )  and wi l l  be  de l iv ered 
as  a  turnkey  pro ject  fo r  the C i ty  to  o ccupy .   The  Bro ad St reet  P ro perty  co nta ins  
appro x imate ly  468 ,234  rentable  square feet  which  i s  ant ic ipated to  be 
dev e lo ped fo r  use  by  the  P hi lade lphia  P o l i ce  D epartment,  w i th  v ar io us 
o perat io na l ,  adm inistrat iv e  and accesso ry  o f f i ces  inc luding,  but  no t  l im i ted  to ,  
the  C i ty  mo rgue  and to x ico lo gy  lab,  and Ci ty  F i re  D epartment  o f f i ces  inc lud ing 
the  C i ty  F i re  Co mmand Center .  The  Ca l lo whi l l  S t reet  P ro perty  i s  current ly  
s t r iped fo r  590  s tandard  autom o bi le  park ing  s ta l l s  and wi l l  co nt inue  to  be  used 
fo r  park ing.   Landlo rd  wi l l  be  per fo rm ing  the  rehabi l i tat io n/ dev e lo pment  o f  the 
P ro pert ies  at  the  d i rect io n  o f  the  C i ty  (here in ,  the  "Proj ec t" )  
 
P er  Reso lut io n  No .  2017 -57 ,  ado pted by  the  P RA o n August  9 ,  2017 ,  the  P RA 
entered into  a  Co o perat io n Agreem ent wi th  the C i ty  autho r iz ing  the PRA to  act  
as  agent  for  the  C ity  wi th  respect  to  secur ing  a  co nsul tant  to  represent  the C i ty  
wi th  the  o vers ight ,  ana lys i s  and mo nito r ing  o f  P ro ject  co nst ruct io n  and 
per fo rm  o ther  serv ices  wi th  respect  to  the  P ro ject  as  deta i led  in the 
Co o perat io n  Agreement  (co l lect iv e ly ,  the  "S erv ic es" ) .  
 
P er  Reso lut io n  2 018-01 ,  ado pted by  the  PRA o n January  10 ,  2018 ,  the  P RA and 
the  C i ty  prev io us ly  entered into  a  F i rs t  Am endm ent to  Co o perat io n  Agreem ent 
( the  "Fi rst  Amendment" )  dated Octo ber  15 ,  2018 ,  where in  the  P RA and the C i ty  
agreed to  expand the sco pe  o f  serv ices  to  be  per fo rm ed by  the  P RA o n beha l f  
o f  o r  as  agent  fo r  the C i ty  under the  Coo perat io n  Agreem ent .  
 

Item I (b)

3



The  P RA and the  C i ty  prev io us ly  entered into  a  Seco nd Amendment  to 
Co o perat io n  Agreement  ( the "S ec ond Amendment" )  dated August  4 ,  2020,  
m ade  e f fect ive  Octo ber  17 ,  2018 ,  where in  the  PRA and C i ty  agreed to  m utua l ly  
exerc i se  the  Renewal  Terms  as  set  fo rth  in  P aragraph 2 .1  o f  the  Coo perat io n 
Agreement ,  as  prev io us ly  amended,  such that  the term o f  the  Co o perat io n  
Agreement  as  pro v ided in  P aragraph 2 .1  o f  the Coo perat io n Agreem ent ,  as  
prev io us ly  am ended,  was  extended to  October  16 ,  2021  (here in ,  the  "T erm" ) .  
 
 

REQUES T :  
 
The  P RA and the  C i ty  wo uld  l i ke  to  aga in  am end the  Co o perat ion  Agreem ent ,  as  
prev io us ly  am ended by the F i rs t  Am endm ent and Seco nd Am endm ent ,  to  
extend the  Term  fo r  an  addi t io na l  twe lv e  (12)  mo nths ,  e f fect ive  as  o f  Octo ber 
16 ,  2021 .  
 
The  P RA wi l l  co nt inue  to  per fo rm  a l l  Serv ices  as  def ined in  the  Coo perat io n 
Agreement ,  as  prev io us ly  amended,  and the  C i ty  wi l l  cont inue  to  be 
respo ns ib le  fo r  payment  o f  a l l  co sts  incurred by  the  PRA under  the  Co o perat io n 
Agreement ,  as  prev ious ly  am ended,  and the  C i ty  wi l l  co nt inue  to  pay  the  P RA a 
f i xed  adm inis t rat iv e  fee o f  e ight  percent  (8%)  o f  a l l  co sts  incurred fo r  i ts  
serv ices .   
 
 
 

P ro po sed Reso lut io n  at tached.   
 
 
P repared by :   Ryan Harm o n 
 

Item I (b)

4



RESOLUTION NO. 
 
RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING A THIRD AMENDEMENT TO COOPERATION 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE PHILADELPHIA REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
AND THE CITY OF PHILADELPHIA, ACTING THROUGH ITS DEPARTMENT OF 
PUBLIC PROPERTY, FOR THE 400 NORTH BROAD STREET PROJECT 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Resolution No. 2017-57, adopted by the Philadelphia 
Redevelopment Authority (the "Authority") on August 9, 2017, the Authority entered into a 
Cooperation Agreement dated October 16, 2017 (the "Cooperation Agreement") with the City 
of Philadelphia, acting through its Department of Public Property (the "City"), authorizing the 
Authority to act as agent for the City with respect to securing a consultant to represent the City 
with the oversight, analysis and monitoring of construction at the properties located at 400 N. 
Broad Street (the "Broad Street Property") and 1501 Callowhill Street (the "Callowhill Street 
Property") (the Broad Street Parcel and the Callowhill Street Parcel, together, the "Properties"), 
which are being developed by 400 North Broad Partners, L.P. ("Landlord") and will be 
delivered as a turnkey project for the City to occupy.  
 
 WHEREAS,  pursuant to Resolution 2018-01, adopted by the Authority on January 10, 
2018, the Authority and the City entered into a First Amendment to Cooperation Agreement (the 
"First Amendment") dated October 15, 2018, wherein the Authority and the City agreed to 
expand the scope of services to be performed by the Authority on behalf of or as agent for the 
City under the Cooperation Agreement. 
 
 WHEREAS, the Authority and the City also entered into a Second Amendment to 
Cooperation Agreement (the "Second Amendment") dated August 4, 2020, made effective 
October 17, 2018, wherein the Authority and City agreed to mutually exercise the Renewal 
Terms as set forth in Paragraph 2.1 of the Cooperation Agreement, as previously amended, such 
that the term of the Cooperation Agreement as provided in Paragraph 2.1 of the Cooperation 
Agreement, as previously amended, was extended to October 16, 2021 (herein, the "Term"). 
 
 WHEREAS, the Authority and the City would like to again amend the Cooperation 
Agreement, as previously amended by the First Amendment and Second Amendment, to extend 
the Term for an additional twelve (12) months, effective as of October 16, 2021. 
 
 WHEREAS, the Authority will continue to perform all other Services as defined in the 
Cooperation Agreement, as previously amended, and the City will continue to be responsible for 
payment of all costs incurred by the Authority under the Cooperation Agreement, as previously 
amended, and the City will continue to pay the Authority a fixed administrative fee of eight 
percent (8%) of all costs incurred for its services. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Philadelphia Redevelopment 
Authority that the Redevelopment Authority is authorized to execute a Third Amendment to 
Cooperation Agreement with the City whereby the Term of the Cooperation Agreement, as 
previously amended, will be extended for an additional twelve (12) months, effective as of 
October 16, 2021. 

Item I (b)

5



FURTHER RESOLVING, the preparation, execution and delivery of all documentation 
necessary to carry out the foregoing in form and substance acceptable to the Deputy Executive 
Director of Real Estate and General Counsel. 

FURTHER RESOLVING, that the Deputy Executive Director of Real Estate, with the 
advice of General Counsel, may allow modifications to the Resolution necessary or desirable to 
carry out its purposes and intents.  

Item I (b)

6



BOARD FACTSHEET  
Meeting of  January 12,  2022  
Approval  of  Grant  Agreement  ($500,000)  with  the 
Phi ladelphia  Housing Author ity 

NAME OF SPONS OR/DEVELOPER :  P hi lade lphia  Ho us ing  Autho r ity  ("PHA" )  

NAT URE OF TRANSACT I ON:   Autho r izat io n fo r  the P hi lade lphia  Redev e lo pment 
Autho r i ty  ( "PRA" )  to  enter  into  a  Grant  Agreem ent  wi th  P HA where in  PRA sha l l  
pro v ide a  grant  to  PHA in  an am o unt  not  to  exceed F ive  Hundred Tho usand 
D o l lars  ($500 ,000 )  ( the  "Grant  Funds" ) .   

The  Grant  P ro ceeds  sha l l  be  used by  P HA fo r  the  purpo ses  o ut l ined in  the 
Cho ice  Ne ighbo rhoods  Im plem entat io n Grant  Agreem ent (Grant  Num ber 
PA3A518 CNG113)  dated Decem ber  17 ,  2014  (the "Choic e  Grant  Agreement" ) ,  to  
be  ut i l i zed  so le ly  to  ass i s t  in  the  creat io n  o f  hom eo wnership  oppo rtuni t ies  fo r  
( i ) lo w- incom e res idents  o f  publ i c  and/or  ass i s ted  ho us ing  res idents  o f  the
No rth  Centra l  Ne ighbo rhoo d (as  def ined in  the  Cho ice  Grant  Agreement)  and
( i i ) fo rmer res idents  o f  the No rr i s  Apartments  ho us ing  dev e lo pm ents,  and ( i i i )
to  lo w- incom e res idents  o f  publ i c  and/o r  ass i s ted  ho us ing  res idents  in  the  C i ty
o f  P h i lade lphia  ( "Ci ty" ) ,  and ( iv )  o ther  low- inco me peo ple  in  the  C i ty .

COMMENT S OR OT HER CONDI TI ONS : 

The  so urce  o f  the  Grant  Funds  i s  PRA wo rk ing  capi ta l .  

P ro po sed Reso lut io n  is  a t tached.  

Prepared by :  Ryan Harm o n 

Item I (c)

7



RESOLUTION NO. 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE APPROVAL OF A GRANT IN AN AMOUNT 
NOT TO EXCEED $500,000 TO THE PHILADELPHIA HOUSING AUTHORITY FOR 
THE PURPOSES OUTLINED IN THE CHOICE NEIGHBORHOODS 
IMPLEMENTATION GRANT AGREEMENT 

BE IT RESOLVED, by the Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority ("Authority"), that 
authorization is hereby given to enter into a Grant Agreement with the Philadelphia Housing 
Authority ("PHA") wherein the Authority will grant funds in an amount not to exceed Five 
Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000) to PHA to be used by PHA for the purposes outlined in 
the Choice Neighborhoods Implementation Grant Agreement (Grant Number 
PA3A518CNG113) dated December 17, 2014 (the "Choice Grant Agreement"), to be utilized 
solely to assist in the creation of homeownership opportunities for (i) low-income residents of 
public and/or assisted housing residents of the North Central Neighborhood (as defined in the 
Choice Grant Agreement) and (ii) former residents of the Norris Apartments housing 
developments, and (iii) to low-income residents of public and/or assisted housing residents in the 
City of Philadelphia ("City"), and (iv) other low-income people in the City. 

FURTHER AUTHORIZING, the preparation, execution, and delivery of all 
documentation necessary to carry out the foregoing in form and substance acceptable to the 
Deputy Executive Director of Real Estate and General Counsel. 

FURTHER AUTHORIZING, that the Deputy Executive Director of Real Estate, with 
the advice of General Counsel, may allow modifications to the Resolution necessary or desirable 
to carry out its purposes and intents. 

Item I (c)

8



 
 

 
 
 

BOARD FACTSHEET  
Meeting of  January 12,  2022 
Conveyance of  Ti t le  of  C i ty  Propert ies  through Phi ladelphia  
Redevelopment  Author i ty to Phi ladelphia  Land Bank 
 

 

Nature of  Transaction:  The Phi ladelphia  Redevelopment Author i ty ("PRA")  
wi l l  fac i l i tate  the conveyance of  t it le  of  propert ies  owned by the Ci ty of 
Ph i ladelphia  ("Ci ty")  to  the Phi ladelphia  Land Bank.  
 

•  The conveyance of  these propert ies  wi l l  be  for the disposit ion,  reuse,  
and management  by the Phi ladelphia  Land Bank. 

 
•  The City propert ies  l i s ted  below were approved for  the conveyance to 

the Phi ladelphia  Land Bank in  co l laborat ion  with  the 1s t  Counci l  
D ist r ict ,  2n d  Counci l  D ist r ict ,  3 r d  Counci l  D ist r ict ,  5 t h  Counci l  D ist r ict  
and 8t h  Counci l  D istr ict .  

 
PROPERTY INFORMATION: 
  
       The Ci ty  propert ies  at tached hereto as  Exh ib i t  "A"  wi l l  be  conveyed to 

the Land Bank without considerat ion through the PRA, pursuant to 
Sect ion  2109 of  the Land Bank Act ,  68  Pa.  C.S .A.  §2109(d)(3) ,  and 
Chapter  16-700 of  The Phi ladelphia  Code.  

 
 
 
Prepared by:   Mathen Pul lukattu ,  Senior Development Specia l i st  
Reviewed by:  Jess ie  Lawrence,  D irector  of  Real  Estate 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item I (d)

9



EXHIBIT "A" 

1st Council District Properties 

731 Mercy Street 

2nd Council District Properties 

1537 S. Lambert Street 
1514 S. Opal Street 
1520 S. Opal Street 
3036 Titan Street 
2008 Wilder Street 
1306 S. 28th Street 

3rd Council District Properties 

3851 Aspen Street 
3855 Aspen Street 
3732 Haverford Avenue 
3825 Fairmount Avenue 
3605 Melon Street 
3607 Melon Street 
3832 Melon Street 
3858 Mount Vernon Street 
614 N. Shedwick Street 
3832 Wallace Street 
3830 Wallace Street 
708 N. 34th Street 
709 N. 35th Street 
676 N. 36th Street 
681 N. 37th Street 
740 N.. 38th Street 
747 N 39th Street 

5th Council District Properties 

1403 N. 17th Street 
1409 N. 17th Street 
1412 N. 17th Street 
1415 N. 17th Street 
1416 N. 17th Street 
1421 N. 17th Street 
1435 N. 17th Street 
1441 N. 17th Street 
1624 Jefferson Street 

Item I (d)

10



 
 

 
8th Council District Properties 
 
4635 Germantown Avenue 

Item I (d)

11



 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ACCEPTANCE OF TITLE FROM THE CITY OF 
PHILADELPHIA TO VARIOUS PROPERTIES AND CONVEYANCE OF SUCH 
PROPERTIES BY THE PHILADELPHIA REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY TO THE 
PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 
 

WHEREAS, Act 153 of 2012, 68 Pa. C.S.A. § 2101, et seq. (the "Land Bank Act") 
authorized the City of Philadelphia ("City") to create a land bank in accordance with the Land 
Bank Act; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City, in Bill No. 130156-A (approved December 18, 2013), authorized 

the creation of the Philadelphia Land Bank and provided for its appointment, powers and duties; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, Section 16-705 of the Philadelphia Code authorizes the City's 

Commissioner of Public Property to convey real property to the Philadelphia Redevelopment 
Authority ("Authority"), without consideration, for subsequent transfer to the Philadelphia Land 
Bank; and 

 
WHEREAS, under Section 2109 of Land Bank Act, 68 Pa. C.S.A. § 2109(d)(3), a 

redevelopment authority, with the consent of the local governing body and without a 
redevelopment contract, may convey title to certain redevelopment authority property to a land 
bank; and 
 

WHEREAS, the properties identified on Exhibit "A" to this Resolution have been 
deemed surplus property by the City and the transfer of such properties to the Authority for 
subsequent transfer to the Philadelphia Land Bank will promote the public purposes for which 
the City created the Philadelphia Land Bank.  
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Philadelphia Redevelopment 
Authority, that authorization is hereby given to the Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority to 
accept title from the City of Philadelphia to those properties identified on Exhibit "A," hereto, 
and for the conveyance and preparation, execution, acknowledgment and delivery of deeds to the 
Philadelphia Land Bank, without consideration, pursuant to Section 2109 of the Land Bank Act, 
68 Pa. C.S.A. §2109(d)(3), and Chapter 16-700 of the Philadelphia Code. 

 
FURTHER AUTHORIZING, the preparation, execution, and delivery of all 

documentation necessary to carry out the foregoing in form and substance acceptable to the 
Deputy Executive Director of Real Estate and General Counsel. 
 
 FURTHER AUTHORIZING, that the Deputy Executive Director of Real Estate, with 
the advice of General Counsel, may allow modifications to the Resolution necessary or desirable 
to carry out its purposes and intents. 
 
 

Item I (d)

12



  
 

EXHIBIT "A" 
 

1st Council District Properties 
 
731 Mercy Street 
 
2nd Council District Properties 
 
1537 S. Lambert Street 
1514 S. Opal Street 
1520 S. Opal Street 
3036 Titan Street 
2008 Wilder Street 
1306 S. 28th Street 
 
3rd Council District Properties  
 
3851 Aspen Street 
3855 Aspen Street 
3732 Haverford Avenue 
3825 Fairmount Avenue 
3605 Melon Street 
3607 Melon Street 
3832 Melon Street 
3858 Mount Vernon Street 
614 N. Shedwick Street 
3832 Wallace Street 
3830 Wallace Street 
708 N. 34th Street 
709 N. 35th Street 
676 N. 36th Street 
681 N. 37th Street 
740 N.. 38th Street 
747 N 39th Street 
 
5th Council District Properties 
 
1403 N. 17th Street 
1409 N. 17th Street 
1412 N. 17th Street 
1415 N. 17th Street 
1416 N. 17th Street 
1421 N. 17th Street 
1435 N. 17th Street 
1441 N. 17th Street 
1624 Jefferson Street 

Item I (d)

13



 
 

 
8th Council District Properties 
 
4635 Germantown Avenue 
 
 

Item I (d)

14



BOARD FACTSHEET  
Meeting of  January 12,  2022 
Conveyance of  PRA Propert ies to Phi ladelphia Land Bank 

Nature of  Transaction:  The Phi ladelphia Redevelopment Author i ty ( the "PRA")  
wi l l  fac i l i tate  the conveyance of  t i t le  of  these propert ies  owned by the PRA to 
the Phi ladelphia Land Bank:   

• The conveyance of  these propert ies  wi l l  be  for the disposit ion,  reuse,
and management  by the Phi ladelphia  Land Bank.

• The PRA propert ies  l i s ted  below were approved for  conveyance to the
Phi ladelphia  Land Bank in  co l laborat ion with  the 2n d  Counci l  D ist r ict ,  3 r d

Counci l  D ist r ict ,  and 5t h  Counci l  D ist r ict  Of f ice .

PROPERTY INFORMATION: 

PRA Conveyance:   The PRA propert ies  attached hereto as  Exh ib it  "A" wi l l  
be  conveyed to  the Phi ladelphia Land Bank  without  considerat ion,  
pursuant to  Sect ion 2109 of  Land Bank Act ,  68 Pa.  C.S .A.  §  2109(d)(3) .  

Prepared by:  Br ian  Romano,  Project  Manager I I  
Reviewed by:  Jess ie  Lawrence,  D irector  of  Real  Estate 

Item I (e)

15



EXHIBIT "A" 
 
 
2 n d  Counci l  District  Propert ies  
 
2609-27 Sears  St ree t  
3014-26 Whar ton  Stree t  
1308 S .  26 t h  S t ree t  
1310 S .  26 t h  S t ree t  
1312 S .  26 t h  S t ree t  
1314 S .  26 t h  S t ree t  
 
 
3 r d  Counci l  Dis tr ic t  Propert ies  
 
3713 Brandywine  Stree t  
3835 Brandywine  Stree t  
3842 Olive  St ree t  
3841 Melon St reet  
616  N.  Shedwick  St ree t  
708  N.  Shedwick  St ree t  
710  N.  Shedwick  St ree t  
714  N.  Shedwick  St ree t  
3405 Wallace  Street  
682  N.  33rd Street  
705  N.  35th  Street  
705  N.  35th  Street  
 
 
5 t h  Counci l  District  Propert ies   
 
1900 Monument  Street  
1902 Monument  Street  
1620 N.  Sydenham Street  
1622 N.  Sydenham Street  
1624 N.  Sydenham Street  
1801 N.  31s t  S t ree t  
1802-10 N.  31s t  S t reet  
1819 N.  31s t  S t ree t  
1821 N.  31s t  S t ree t  
1825 N.31s t  S t ree t   
1827-37 N.  31s t  S t reet  
1841-43 N.  31s t  S t reet  
 
 

Item I (e)

16



RESOLUTION NO. 
 
RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CONVEYANCE OF CERTAIN PROPERTIES 
OWNED BY THE PHILADELPHIA REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY TO THE 
PHILADELPHIA LAND BANK 
 

WHEREAS, Act 153 of 2012, 68 Pa. C.S.A. § 2101, et seq. (the "Land Bank Act") 
authorized the City of Philadelphia ("City") to create a land bank in accordance with the Land 
Bank Act; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City, in Bill No. 130156-A (approved December 18, 2013), authorized 

the creation of the Philadelphia Land Bank and provided for its appointment, powers and duties; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, under Section 2109 of Land Bank Act, 68 Pa. C.S.A. § 2109(d)(3), a 

redevelopment authority, with the consent of the local governing body and without a 
redevelopment contract, may convey title to certain redevelopment authority property to a land 
bank; and 
 

WHEREAS, the properties identified on Exhibit "A" to this Resolution which are owned 
by the Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority ("Authority") qualify for transfer from the Authority 
to the Philadelphia Land Bank as provided by Section 2109 of the Land Bank Act; and 
 

WHEREAS, the transfer of the properties identified on Exhibit "A" to this Resolution to 
the Philadelphia Land Bank will promote the public purposes for which the City created the 
Philadelphia Land Bank; 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Philadelphia Redevelopment 

Authority, that authorization is hereby given to the Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority to 
convey title to those properties identified on Exhibit "A" hereto to the Philadelphia Land Bank, 
and for the preparation, execution, acknowledgment and delivery of deeds to the Philadelphia Land 
Bank, without consideration, pursuant to Section 2109 of Land Bank Act, 68 Pa. C.S.A. § 
2109(d)(3), and to obtain the appropriate councilmanic action. 
 
 FURTHER AUTHORIZING, the preparation, execution, and delivery of all 
documentation necessary to carry out the foregoing in form and substance acceptable to the Deputy 
Executive Director of Real Estate and General Counsel. 
 
 FURTHER AUTHORIZING, that the Deputy Executive Director of Real Estate, with 
the advice of General Counsel, may allow modifications to the Resolution necessary or desirable 
to carry out its purposes and intents. 
 
 
  

Item I (e)

17



EXHIBIT "A" 
 
 
2 n d  Counci l  District  Propert ies  
 
2609-27 Sears  St ree t  
3014-26 Whar ton  Stree t  
1308 S .  26 t h  S t ree t  
1310 S .  26 t h  S t ree t  
1312 S .  26 t h  S t ree t  
1314 S .  26 t h  S t ree t  
 
 
3 r d  Counci l  Dis tr ic t  Propert ies  
 
3713 Brandywine  Stree t  
3835 Brandywine  Stree t  
3842 Olive  St ree t  
3841 Melon St reet  
616  N.  Shedwick  St ree t  
708  N.  Shedwick  St ree t  
710  N.  Shedwick  St ree t  
714  N.  Shedwick  St ree t  
3405 Wallace  Street  
682  N.  33rd Street  
705  N.  35th  Street  
705  N.  35th  Street  
 
 
5 t h  Counci l  District  Propert ies   
 
1900 Monument  Street  
1902 Monument  Street  
1620 N.  Sydenham Street  
1622 N.  Sydenham Street  
1624 N.  Sydenham Street  
1801 N.  31s t  S t ree t  
1802-10 N.  31s t  S t reet  
1819 N.  31s t  S t ree t  
1821 N.  31s t  S t ree t  
1825 N.31s t  S t ree t   
1827-37 N.  31s t  S t reet  
1841-43 N.  31s t  S t reet  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item I (e)

18



                  

 
 

 
BOARD FACTSHEET  
Meeting of  January 12,  2022 
Issuance of  Cert i f icate  of  Complet ion 
46 S .  44t h  Street  
 
 
 

 
NAME OF DEVELOPER/ APPLICANT :    4644  So uth,  LP   
 

NAT URE OF T RANSACTI ON:  The  Bo ard i s  asked to  co ns ider  a  Reso lut io n  
autho r iz ing  the  i ssuance  o f  a  Cert i f i cate  o f  Co m plet io n  fo r  46  S .  44 t h  S t reet  
( the  "P ro perty" ) .    
 
 
BACKGROUND:   By  Reso lut io n  No .  2015-130  ado pted o n Nov em ber  18 ,  2015 ,  
the  Redeve lo pm ent Autho r i ty  entered into  a  Redeve lo pm ent Agreement  wi th 
4644  So uth,  LP  ( "D ev e lo per" ) ,  to  co nst ruct  the  s i te  into  a  three  (3 )  s to ry 
bui ld ing  wi th  three  (3 )  two -bedro om uni ts  o f  renta l  ho us ing o n each f lo o r.    
The  D ev e lo per purchased the pro perty  fo r  F i f ty -F iv e Tho usand D o l lars  
($55 ,000 .00) .  Pert inent  reco rd ing  do cum ent  i s  as  fo l lo ws:  
 

•  Redeve lo pm ent  Agreem ent:   June  3 ,  2016,  Do c .  ID  No .  53065509 
•  D eed:   June  3 ,  2016,  Do c .  ID  No .  53065510 

  
 
DEVELOPMENT  B ACKGROUND:   D ev e lo per  has  requested a  Cert i f i cate  o f  
Com plet io n  and subm it ted perm it ted bui ld ing  p lans  that  were  no t  prev io us ly  
appro v ed by  the  P RA.    The p lans  inc lude  m ater ia l  changes to  the  pro ject ,  
changing  the  sco pe  of  the  pro ject  f rom  a  three  (3 )  s to ry  bui ld ing  to  a  fo ur  (4 )  
s to ry  bui ld ing  and in creas ing  the  uni t  co unt  f ro m  three  (3 )  two-bedroom  uni ts  
to  fo ur  (4 )  two -bedro om uni ts .  The D ev elo per  a lso  co nst ructed a  p i lo t  ho use 
and changed the  pro po sed exter io r  m ater ia l s  f ro m  br ick  and s tucco  to  a lum inum 
s id ing.  The D ev e lo per  has  subm itted a  const ruct io n a f f idav it  determ in ing  that 
to ta l  co nst ruct io n  costs  fo r  the  pro ject  were in  the  amo unt  o f  Fo ur  Hundred 
and Sev en Tho usand F iv e  Hundred and F i f ty  Do l lars  ($407 ,550 .00) .  

 
The  Bo ard  se lect io n a l so  inc luded the appro v a l  o f  an  Eco nom ic  Oppo rtuni ty  P lan 
( "EOP ")  w ith  ranges  o f  MBE –  15%,  WBE –  10%.    The  Deve lo per  fa i led  to  m eet  
i t s  Eco nom ic Oppo rtuni ty  P lan  (EOP )  go a ls  as  co nf i rm ed by  D HCD .   
  

As  the  D ev e lo per  has  com pleted co nst ruct io n  there  i s  no  o ppo rtuni ty  to  co rrect  
the  s i tuat io n  as  the  Pro perty  has  rece ived i t s  Cert i f i cate  o f  Occupancy  f rom  the 
C i ty  o f  P h i lade lphia  -  D epartm ent  o f  L i censes  & Inspect io ns .     

  

Item II (a)

19



To day the  bo ard  i s  requested to  autho r ize  a  reso lut io n  to  enable  the  fo l lo wing:  
 

1 .  Requi re  the repayment  o f  an adm inis t rat ive  fee in  the amo unt  of   
F iv e  Hundred F i f ty  D ol lars  ($550 .00)  which  i s  1% o f  the  purchase 
pr ice  as  set  fo rth  in  the  Redev e lo pm ent  Agreem ent .  

 
2 .  Appro v a l  o f  rev ised plans  and paym ent  o f  an  unautho r ized p lan  
      change  fee  in  the amo unt  o f  Twenty  Tho usand Three  Hundred  

Sev enty -Sev en D o l lars  and F i f ty  Cents  ($20,377 .50)  which  
represents  5% o f  the  to ta l  co nst ruct io n  costs  as  rem it ted by  the  
D ev e lo per 's  no tar i zed co nst ruct io n  af f idav i t .  

 
 Legal  Ent i ty  & Pr inc ipal  Par tners  ( i f  a p p l i c a b l e ) :   46 S .  44 t h  S t reet  
   

  Kale ido sco pe  LLC  –  Ro der ick  Ward –  89%  
  P artnersh ip  CD C –  Stev en Wi l l iam s –  10%  
  Gateway  L iv ing  LLC –  Ro der ick  Ward –  1% 

   
 

 PROPERT Y INFORMATI ON: 46  S .  44 t h  S t reet  
 

Descr ipt ion:   1 ,029  sq .  f t .    Zoning :   CMX-4  Use:   Res ident ia l  
 
At  the  d i rect io n  o f  the  Co unc i l  perso n,  the sa le  o f  the  Pro perty  was  handled as  
a  d i rect  sa le  to  the  D ev e lo per  and the  d ispos i t io n pr ice  was  establ i shed 
thro ugh an  independent  appra isa l .  
 

    F INANCING: 
 

The  Deve lo per  purchased the  Pro perty  and pro v ided do cum entat io n  o f  
av a i lab le  funds  in  an  amo unt  no less  than the  tota l  pro ject  co st .   

 
COMMENT S OR OT HER CONDI TI ONS :  
 

The  D ev e lo per i s  com pl iant  wi th the C i ty  o f  P h i lade lphia  Revenue  Departm ent  
and has  no  o utstanding  tax  o bl igat io ns ,  co nf l i c t s  o f  interest ,  o r  unreso lv ed 
v io lat io n o f  C i ty  L&I  co des .   The Deve lo per  was new to  the P RA,  and therefo re ,  
no  past  per fo rm ance  has  been reco rded.    

  
 

 
P ro po sed Reso lut io n and suppo rt ing  pro ject  in fo rm at io n are  at tached (s i te  m ap 
and pho to graph) .   
 
 
P repared by :   T racy  P inso n-Rev iere,  P ro ject  Manager  I I  
Rev iewed by :  Jess ie  Lawrence ,  D i recto r  o f  Rea l  Es tate   

Item II (a)

20



                  

RESOLUTION NO.  
 
RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ISSUANCE OF A CERTIFICATE OF 
COMPLETION FOR 46 S. 44TH STREET, LOCATED IN THE 45TH AND SANSOM 
REDEVELOPMENT AREA, 45TH AND SANSOM URBAN RENEWAL AREA 
 

WHEREAS, the Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority ("Authority") entered into a 
Redevelopment Agreement (the "Redevelopment Agreement") with 4644 South L.P. 
("Developer"), dated November 24, 2015, for the development of 46 S. 44th Street (the 
"Property"); 
 

WHEREAS, the Property has been developed in accordance with the Redevelopment 
Area Plan for the 45th and Sansom Redevelopment Area and the Urban Renewal Plan for the 45th 
and Sansom Urban Renewal Area; however, the Developer has changed the scope of the project 
from a three (3) story building with three (3) two-bedroom units to a four (4) story building with 
four (4) two-bedroom units, pilot house and exterior material change;  

 
WHEREAS, the Developer has failed to meet its Economic Opportunity Plan ("EOP") 

goals and Authority staff further believes the Developer failed to make a best faith effort to 
achieve the EOP goals; 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Philadelphia Redevelopment 

Authority, that the Deputy Executive Director of Real Estate is hereby authorized to issue a 
Certificate of Completion certifying the completion of development at 46 S. 44th Street, subject 
to the following conditions/penalties: 
 

1.  Require the repayment of an administrative fee in the amount of  
             Five Hundred Fifty Dollars ($550.00), which is 1% of the purchase  
             price as set forth in the Redevelopment Agreement. 
 
2.  Approval of revised plans and payment of an unauthorized plan  
             change fee in the amount of Twenty Thousand Three Hundred  
             Seventy-Seven Dollars and Fifty Cents ($20,377.50), which represents 
             5% of the total construction costs as remitted by the Developer's 
             notarized construction affidavit. 

 
FURTHER AUTHORIZING, the preparation, execution, and delivery of all 

documentation necessary to carry out the foregoing in form and substance acceptable to the 
Deputy Executive Director of Real Estate and General Counsel. 

 
FURTHER AUTHORIZING, that the Deputy Executive Director of Real Estate, with 

the advice of General Counsel, may allow modifications to the Resolution necessary or desirable 
to carry out its purposes and intents. 
 
 

Item II (a)

21



 

Item II (a)

22



Item II (a)

23



BOARD FACTSHEET  
Meeting of  January 12,  2022 
Cert i f icate  of  Complet ion 
2476 Jasper  Street  and 2478 Jasper  Street  

NAME OF DEVELOPER/ APPLICANT :  Blue  Truck  Enterpr i ses  LLC ( "Redeve lo per" )  

NAT URE OF TRANSACTI ON:   The  Bo ard i s  asked to  author ize  a  Reso lut io n  
autho r iz ing  the i ssuance  o f  a  Cert i f i cate  of  Com plet io n fo r  2476  Jasper  St reet  and 
2478  Jasper  St reet  ( co l lect iv e ly ,  the  "Pro pert ies")  which  were  dev e lo ped into  two 
(2 ) s ing le - fam i ly  homes  ( the  "P ro ject" ) .

BACKGROUND: By Reso lut io n  No .  2016-101 ,  ado pted o n Septem ber 14 ,  2016,  the 
P hi lade lphia  Redev e lo pment  Autho r i ty  ( "Autho r i ty" )  entered into  a  Redev e lo pment 
Agreement  dated Ju ly  2 1 ,  2016  ("Redev e lo pment  Agreem ent" )  w i th  the 
Redeve lo per  and appro ved the  co nst ruct io n  o f  the Pro ject .  The  Redeve lo per  
purchased the  P ropert ies  fo r  One  Hundred Fo urteen Tho usand D o l lars  
($114 ,000 .00 ) .  P ert inent  reco rd ing  document  i s  as  fo l lo ws:  

• D eed:   D oc .  ID  No .  53169184
• Redeve lo pm ent  Agreem ent:  D oc .  ID  No .  53169185

The  Autho r i ty  co nveyed the  P ro pert ies  to  the  Redev e loper  in  January ,  2017 .   The 
Redeve lo per  then so ld  each uni t  o n  the  Pro pert ies  in  D ecem ber ,  2017  and June ,  
2018 .  To  date ,  2478 Jasper  St reet  has  been so ld  by  i t s  o r ig ina l  ho mebuyer  and 
2476 Jasper  St reet  i s  in  the process  o f  being  so ld  by  i t s  o r ig ina l  hom ebuyer  and 
the  t i t le  com pany  has  no w requested a  Cert i f i cate  o f  Complet io n.  Based o n 
Autho r i ty  reco rds ,  there  was no pre-co nstruct io n  meet ing  to  ini t ia te  an  Eco no m ic 
Oppo rtuni ty  P lan  (EOP)  due  to  an  ov ers ight  by  Autho r ity  s ta f f .  Because  o f  th i s ,  the 
department  tasked with  mo ni to r ing  the  EOP  canno t  s ign  o f f  o n  the  Pro ject .   

Sho uld  the Board  appro ve  th is  Cert i f i cate  o f  Com plet io n,  the t i t le  com pany has  
been made aware  that  the  fo l lo wing  rest r ic t io ns  wi l l  no t  be re leased:  

1 . That  no  perso n sha l l  be  depr ived o f  the  r ight  to  l iv e  in  the  P rem ises  o r
to  use  any o f  the fac i l i t ies  there in ,  by  reaso n o f  race ,  c reed,  co lo r  o r
nat io na l  o r ig in .

2 . That  there  sha l l  be  no  d iscr im inat io n  in  the  use ,  sa le  o r  lease  o f  any
part  o f  the  P ro ject  aga inst  any  perso n because  o f  race ,  co lo r ,  re l ig io n  o r
nat io na l  o r ig in .

Item II (b)

24



P ro po sed Reso lut io n and suppo rt ing  inf o rmat io n are  at tached ( s i te  m ap and 
pho to graphs) .   
 
 
P repared by :   Br ian  Rom ano 
Rev iewed by :  Jess ie  Lawrence 

Item II (b)

25



RESOLUTION NO. 
 

RESOLUTION APPROVING THE ISSUANCE OF A CERTIFICATE OF 
COMPLETION FOR 2476 JASPER STREET AND 2478 JASPER STREET 
  
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Resolution No. 2016-101, adopted by the Philadelphia 
Redevelopment Authority ("Authority") Board on September 14, 2016, the Authority entered into a 
Redevelopment Agreement dated July 21, 2016 ("Redevelopment Agreement") with Blue Truck 
Enterprises LLC ("Redeveloper") for the development of 2476 Jasper Street and 2478 Jasper Street 
(collectively, the "Properties"); 
 
 WHEREAS, the Redeveloper purchased the Properties for One Hundred Fourteen 
Thousand Dollars ($114,000.00); 
 
 WHEREAS, the Philadelphia Redevelopment Authority conveyed the Properties to 
Redeveloper by Deed dated on January 27, 2017; 
 
 WHEREAS, the Redeveloper then developed the Properties as two (2) single-family homes 
and sold 2476 Jasper Street in June, 2018, and sold 2478 Jasper Street in December, 2017; 
 
 WHEREAS, based on Authority records, there was no pre-construction meeting to initiate 
an Economic Opportunity Plan; 
 
 WHEREAS, to date, 2478 Jasper Street has been sold by its original homebuyer and 2476 
Jasper Street is in the process of being sold by its original homebuyer and the title company has now 
requested a Certificate of Completion for the Properties; and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Properties have been developed into residential and related use in 
accordance with the development obligations set forth in the Redevelopment Agreement. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Philadelphia Redevelopment 
Authority, that the Deputy Executive Director of Real Estate is hereby authorized to issue a 
Certificate of Completion certifying the completion of the development of the properties located at 
2476 Jasper Street and 2478 Jasper Street in accordance with the Redevelopment Agreement and 
the attached Fact Sheet. 
 
 FURTHER AUTHORIZING, the preparation, execution, and delivery of all 
documentation necessary to carry out the foregoing in form and substance acceptable to the Deputy 
Executive Director of Real Estate and General Counsel. 
 

FURTHER RESOLVING, that the Deputy Executive Director of Real Estate, with the 
advice of General Counsel, may allow modifications to the Resolution necessary or desirable to 
carry out its purposes and intents. 

Item II (b)

26



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Item II (b)

27



  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item II (b)

28


	PRA Board Agenda for January 12, 2022
	01-12-2022 PRA Board Agenda Final
	PHILADELPHIA REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
	PHILADELPHIA, PA  19107
	BOARD MEETING
	WEDNESDAY, JANUARY 12, 2022
	A G E N D A




	12-08-2021 Minutes
	12-08-2021 Minutes
	12-08-2021 Minutes
	12-08-2021 Minutes
	12-08-2021 Minutes
	12-08-2021 PRA Minutes
	BOARD MEETING MINUTES
	Ms. Fadullon informed staff and the public that the PRA Board of Directors 2022 meeting Schedule will be posted on the website and will be advertised prior to next month's meeting.
	ROLL CALL

	2PUndUPU Council District Properties
	1306 S 21st Street
	1308 S 21st Street
	1310 S 21st Street
	1312 S 21st Street
	1329 S 21st Street
	1303 S 23rd Street
	1210 S 27th Street
	1212 S 27th Street
	1214 S 27th Street
	1306 S 28th Street
	1213 S Bonsall Street
	1148 S Cleveland Street
	2632 Ellsworth Street
	1410 S Hicks Street
	2054 Gerrit Street
	2612 Latona Street
	2741 Latona Street
	2743 Latona Street
	2123 Montrose Street
	1701 S Ringgold Street
	1703 S Ringgold Street
	1714 S Taylor Street
	3PUrdUPU Council District Properties
	5139 Delancey Street


	Copy of PRA_Attendance_Dec82021
	89226150007 - Attendee Report

	Copy of PRA_QA_Dec82021
	89226150007 - Q&A Report


	12-08-2021 Board Fact Sheets
	12-08-2021 PRA Board Agenda
	11-10-2021 Board Minutes
	11-10-2021 Board Fact Sheets
	Board Items
	Item IIc (Yorktown Arms Preservation Development)
	Item IIc_Site Plan- Yorktown Arms Preservation Development
	Sheets
	A-00.5 - SITE PLAN










	Correspondence Bainbridge Street
	12-08-2021 Board Fact Sheets
	12-08-2021 PRA Board Agenda
	11-10-2021 Board Minutes
	11-10-2021 Board Fact Sheets
	Board Items
	Item IIc (Yorktown Arms Preservation Development)
	Item IIc_Site Plan- Yorktown Arms Preservation Development
	Sheets
	A-00.5 - SITE PLAN






	Board Items
	Board Items
	Item Ia (Lower Gernmantown Property Portfolio - Amendment to Management & Leaseing Agreement)
	Item Ia_FS (Lower Germantwon Property Portfolio - DHC Management LLC)

	Item Ib (Conveyance of City Properties to PLB)
	Item Ib_FS (Conveyance of Title of City Properties to  PLB)
	UEXHIBIT "A"
	2PUndUPU Council District Properties
	1306 S 21st Street
	1308 S 21st Street
	1310 S 21st Street
	1312 S 21st Street
	1329 S 21st Street
	1303 S 23rd Street
	1210 S 27th Street
	1212 S 27th Street
	1214 S 27th Street
	1306 S 28th Street
	1213 S Bonsall Street
	1148 S Cleveland Street
	2632 Ellsworth Street
	1410 S Hicks Street
	2054 Gerrit Street
	2612 Latona Street
	2741 Latona Street
	2743 Latona Street
	2123 Montrose Street
	1701 S Ringgold Street
	1703 S Ringgold Street
	1714 S Taylor Street
	3PUrdUPU Council District Properties
	5139 Delancey Street


	Item Ic (Conveyance of PRA Property to PLB)
	Item Ic_FS (PRA Property Transfer to PLB)

	Item Id (Cooperation Agreement with City of Phila Acting Through Water Department)
	Item Id__FS (Philadelphia Water Department - Cooperation Agreement Revised 2021)


	Item IIa (Alma XHepaj - 2236 W. William Street - Selection of Redeveloper)
	Item IIa_FS ( Alma Xhepaj - 2236 W. William Street - Selection of Redevelopers)

	Item IIb (Alma XHepaj - 2238 W. William Street - Selection of Redeveloper)
	Item IIb_FS (Alma Xhepaj - 2238 W. William Street - Selection of Redevleoper)

	Item IIc (COC - 2848 B Street - Providencia Romero)
	Item IIc_FS (Certificate of Completion - 2848 B Street)_JDL

	Item IId (Ground Lease and Redevelopment Agreement with 624 S. 13th Street L.L.C. (2021)
	Item IId_FS - Ground Lease and Redevelopment Agreement with 624 S. 13th Street L.L.C. (2021) (Revised)





	Board Items
	Board Items
	Item Ia (Appointment Board of Directors RT HeadHouse)
	Item Ia_FS (Appointing Directors to RT HH Dev. Corp. (Jan. 2022) (REVISED)
	Item Ia_Res (Appointing Directors to RT HH Dev. Corp. (Jan. 2022) (REVISED)

	Item Ib (3rd Amendment Cooperation Agreement 400 N. Broad Street)
	Item Ib_FS (Third Amendment to City Cooperation Agreement - 400 N. Broad Street)
	Item Ib_Res (Third Amendment to City Cooperation Agreement - 400 N. Broad Street)
	RESOLUTION NO.


	Item Ic (Grant Agreement with PHA)
	Item Ic_FS (PHA - CHOICE Grant Agreement 2022)
	Item Ic_Res (PHA - CHOICE Grant Agreement 2022)

	Item Id (Conveyance of City Properties to PLB)
	Item Id_FS (Transfer of City Property through PRA to PLB
	UEXHIBIT "A"
	1PUstUPU Council District Properties
	731 Mercy Street
	2PUndUPU Council District Properties
	1537 S. Lambert Street
	1514 S. Opal Street
	1520 S. Opal Street
	3036 Titan Street
	2008 Wilder Street
	1306 S. 28th Street
	3PUrdUPU Council District Properties
	5PUthUPU Council District Properties
	1403 N. 17PthP Street
	1409 N. 17PthP Street
	1412 N. 17PthP Street
	1415 N. 17PthP Street
	1416 N. 17PthP Street
	1421 N. 17PthP Street
	1435 N. 17PthP Street
	1441 N. 17PthP Street
	1624 Jefferson Street
	8PUthUPU Council District Properties
	4635 Germantown Avenue

	Item Id_Res (Transfer of City Property through PRA to PLB
	RESOLUTION NO.
	UEXHIBIT "A"
	1PUstUPU Council District Properties
	731 Mercy Street
	2PUndUPU Council District Properties
	1537 S. Lambert Street
	1514 S. Opal Street
	1520 S. Opal Street
	3036 Titan Street
	2008 Wilder Street
	1306 S. 28th Street
	3PUrdUPU Council District Properties
	5PUthUPU Council District Properties
	1403 N. 17PthP Street
	1409 N. 17PthP Street
	1412 N. 17PthP Street
	1415 N. 17PthP Street
	1416 N. 17PthP Street
	1421 N. 17PthP Street
	1435 N. 17PthP Street
	1441 N. 17PthP Street
	1624 Jefferson Street
	8PUthUPU Council District Properties
	4635 Germantown Avenue


	Item Ie (Conveyance of PRA to PLB)
	Item Ie_FS (Transfer PRA Properties to PLB)
	Item Ie_Res (Transfer PRA Properties to PLB)
	RESOLUTION NO.



	Item IIa (46 S. 44th Street - 4644 South LP  COC)
	Item IIa_FS (46 S. 44th Street_4644 South L.P. - COC)
	Item IIa_Res (46 S. 44th Street_4644 South L.P. - COC)
	Item IIa

	Item IIb (Blue Truck Enterprises LLC_2476 & 2478 Jasper Street - COC)
	Item IIb_FS (Certificate of Completion - 2476 Jasper Street and 2478 Jasper Street)
	Item IIb_Res (Certificate of Completion - 2476 Jasper Street and 2478 Jasper Street)
	Item IIb





